

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# **Exploring Employee Turnover in the Healthcare Industry**

Gloria Scott Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

#### Gloria Scott

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Michael Campo, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Kathleen Simmons, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Kim Critchlow, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

#### Abstract

Exploring Employee Turnover in the Healthcare Industry

by

Gloria Scott

MBA, Pace University, 2008 BS, New York University, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2023

# Abstract

Employee turnover is a challenging issue many organizations face resulting in lost productivity, profitability, and sustainability. Nursing leaders are concerned with employee turnover because patient quality of care and safety could suffer adversely. Grounded in the context emergent turnover theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies nursing leaders used to reduce employee turnover. The participants were six nursing leaders of healthcare organizations in New York State. Data were collected using semistructured virtual interviews conducted by telephone and Zoom, reviewing an organization document, and company public websites. Data were analyzed using methodological triangulation to identify themes that emerged from the data collection process. Through thematic analysis, five themes were identified: (a) commitment of resources, (b) mentoring and residency programs, (c) compensation and incentives, (d) communication, and (e) engagement and recognition. A key recommendation is for healthcare leaders to provide financial and nonfinancial resources for initiatives to reduce employee turnover. The implications for positive social change include the potential to increase nurse retention, which could result in stable employment and increased productivity while providing better patient quality of care and safety.

# Exploring Employee Turnover in the Healthcare Industry

by

Gloria Scott

MBA, Pace University, 2008 BS, New York University, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2023

#### Dedication

God gets the glory, honor, and praise. I want to dedicate this study to God who made it possible to achieve. I also want to dedicate this study to my mother and my father (deceased), and my siblings (living and deceased). My parents instilled the value of obtaining a good education. My parents and siblings offered encouragement throughout my educational journey.

# Acknowledgments

I want to thank God for giving me the knowledge and strength to get through this DBA program despite the challenges. I want to thank my chair, Dr. Michael Campo for his guidance and encouragement. I want to thank my second committee members Dr. Craig Martin and Dr. Kathleen Simmons, and my University Research Reviewer Dr. Kim Critchlow. I want to thank my academic advisor Dr. Richard Hay for all his guidance and wisdom during this process. I want to thank the participants (nursing leaders) who participated in this study by sharing their time and experience. To the future candidates who are trying to complete the doctoral program, I leave these scriptures for encouragement:

<sup>&</sup>quot;Anything is possible if a person believes." (Mark 9:23 NLT)

<sup>&</sup>quot;Be strong and do not give up, for your work will be rewarded." (2 Chronicles 15:7 NIV)

"May God grant your heart's desires and make all your plans succeed." (Psalms 20:4

NLT)

# **Table of Contents**

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	4
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	7
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	8
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
	Context-Emergent Turnover (CET) Theory	9
	Other Theories Considered	15
	Organizational Leadership	31
	Organizational Culture	35

Transition	40
Section 2: The Project	41
Purpose Statement	41
Role of the Researcher	41
Participants	43
Research Method and Design	44
Research Method	44
Research Design	44
Population and Sampling	46
Ethical Research	47
Data Collection Instruments	48
Data Collection Technique	49
Data Organization Technique	49
Data Analysis	50
Reliability and Validity	51
Reliability	51
Validity	52
Transition and Summary	54
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	55
Presentation of the Findings	55
Theme 1: Commitment of Resources	56
Theme 2: Mentoring and Residency Programs	58

Theme 3: Compensation and Incentives	59
Theme 4: Communication	61
Theme 5: Engagement and Recognition	62
Finding Ties to Conceptual Framework	64
Findings Ties to Existing Literature	66
Applications to Professional Practice	67
Implications for Social Change	68
Recommendations for Action	68
Recommendations for Further Research	70
Reflections	71
Conclusion	72
References	73
Annendix: Sample Interview Protocol	96

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee turnover can be challenging and difficult for managers of many organizations to both understand and control (Mitrovska & Eftimov, 2016). Furthermore, high employee turnover can result in increased direct and indirect costs for organizations, which can affect productivity and profitability (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Employee turnover within healthcare organizations specifically can be expensive to recruit new nurses into the workforce (Brook et al., 2019). For healthcare organizations that have successfully managed to reduce nursing turnover, it has resulted in substantial benefits in terms of improved patient care and satisfaction (Vardaman et al., 2020).

## **Background of the Problem**

Nursing shortages are a global problem that will have a significant impact on the healthcare industry (Haryanto, 2019). It is estimated by 2030 there will be nursing shortages of 5.7 million globally (World Health Organization [WHO], 2020). Challenges for healthcare leadership teams are high nursing turnover rates, nursing shortages, and the rising patient quality of care standards (Wei et al., 2019). A decrease in nurses has an effect on patient safety and health outcomes (Park & Yu, 2019). Employee turnover is a very costly factor that impacts organizational profits. Organizations are negatively impacted when employees leave or intend to leave their jobs (Qazi et al., 2015). The cost of employee turnover is expensive for any organization as it is required to pay direct costs when an employee leaves and additional costs for recruitment and training of new hires (Chiat & Panatik, 2019).

## **Problem and Purpose**

Around the world, employee turnover is a serious problem for many organizations (Al-Suraihi et al., 2021). It is estimated that the total costs associated with turnover can range from 90% to 200% of an annual salary due to expenses for recruitment, selection, and training (Reina et al., 2018). The general business problem is that employee turnover results in lost productivity and profitability. The specific business problem is some nursing leaders in the healthcare industry lack strategies to reduce employee turnover.

The purpose of the qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies nursing leaders in the healthcare industry use to reduce employee turnover. The targeted population was six nursing leaders from healthcare organizations located in New York State who have successfully reduced employee turnover. The findings from this study could create a positive social change by reducing turnover and creating stable employment, which may reduce individuals' reliance on governmental services.

#### **Population and Sampling**

Data were collected from six purposefully sampled nursing leaders in healthcare organizations in New York State who were interviewed using a semistructured virtual interview process designed to elicit their lived experiences about this topic. Participants were recruited from a professional association, cold-calling, and social media (LinkedIn). I also reviewed an organization document as well as information from company public websites.

#### **Nature of the Study**

I used the qualitative method for this study. Researchers use the qualitative method to apply theoretical findings or discoveries based on research questions through a field study in natural conditions (Park & Park, 2016). The qualitative method was most appropriate for this study because I explored the personal experiences of participants in their natural environment. The quantitative method is used to examine the relationships between specific variables while answering questions such as: who, where, how many, how much, what is, but is not useful to answer the why and how questions (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study because I did not examine the relationships between variables. The mixed research method is used by researchers to combine the qualitative and quantitative methods when conducting research and involves an extensive amount of time to collect data and conduct an analysis (Bentahar & Cameron, 2015). The mixed method was not applicable for this study because there was no quantitative component to this study.

I used a multiple case study for this study. A case study is a method that investigates a contemporary phenomenon (case) in depth and within a real world context, especially when the boundaries between the phenomenon and the context may not be evident (Yin, 2018). The phenomenological design is a significant methodology developed for investigating human experience and deriving knowledge from a state of pure consciousness (Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenological design was not applicable to this study because I did not seek to understand lived experiences. Grounded theory is used to generate a general explanation or theory of a process, action, or interaction

shaped by the views of many participants (Johnson, 2015). Because I did not intend to generate a theory, the grounded theory was not appropriate for this study. The ethnographic design is used to study people's everyday lives and cultures (Rhodes, 2014). Ethnography was not applicable because this study was not about people's lives or their culture.

#### **Research Question**

The overarching research question for this case study was: What strategies do nursing leaders use to reduce employee turnover in the healthcare industry?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What strategies did you use that were the most effective in reducing employee turnover in your organization?
- 2. What barriers did you encounter when implementing strategies to reduce employee turnover in your organization?
- 3. How did you evaluate your employee turnover strategies?
- 4. How did your employees respond to your different techniques to reduce employee turnover in your organization?
- 5. What additional information would you like to add on this topic?

# **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework used for this study was the context-emergent turnover theory developed by Nyberg and Ployhart in 2013. The context-emergent turnover (CET) theory describes the deficit in unit-level turnover and the understanding of how and why turnover affects unit performance (Reilly et al., 2014). Turnover rates affect organizations

over time, which depletes from the unit by affecting the aggregate quantity and quality of employee knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics (KSAOs) (Nyberg & Ployhart, 2013).

According to CET theory, some guidelines used to explore the influences and consequences of collective turnover include: (a) explain the nomological network of collective turnover, (b) identify when individual and collective turnover effects are likely to be similar and when they are likely to be different, (c) identify when collective turnover will have positive, negative, and no consequences on unit performance, and (d) provide a foundation for conceptualizing collective turnover to help evaluate the validity of collective turnover measures (Nyberg & Ployhart, 2013). The CET theory was used for this study because I was able to gain a better understanding of why employees leave organizations and its impact on a work unit, department, or whole organization. This theory applies to this study for examining and explaining how successful strategies can be used to reduce employee turnover in healthcare organizations.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Collective turnover behavior: It is collective attitudes (e.g., commitment and satisfaction) and perceptions (e.g., aggregate perceptions of climate/culture, cohesiveness/teamwork, quality of management/leadership, and justice/fairness) that might influence collective turnover (Hancock et al., 2017).

Human capital resources: The individual or unit level capacities based on the individual knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics (KSAOs) that are accessible for unit-relevant purposes (Ployhart et al., 2014).

Job satisfaction: This is the pleasurable state of mind or positive feelings employees have towards their jobs. Job satisfaction is seen as a direct consequence of the interaction among the employees and the perception develop towards their job and work environment (Biswas & Mazumder, 2017).

*Nursing manager:* A leader who often assumes responsibility for one or more nursing units in hospitals or healthcare organizations (Phillips et al., 2018).

Organizational commitment: It is a psychological attachment of the individual to an organization (Kocoglu et al., 2019).

Organizational culture: Is defined as a complex set of values, beliefs, assumptions, and symbols that mark the way in which a firm does its business (Lee, 2017).

Turnover intention: Is the idea or intention in which employees have of terminating the labor relationship (Guangyi & Liyun, 2016).

#### **Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations**

## **Assumptions**

Assumptions are often beliefs embedded in the research design that are necessary to conduct the research but cannot be proven (Simon & Goes, 2013). One assumption was that all participants would provide answers to the interview questions truthfully and honestly. A second assumption was that the interview questions would generate responses that help answer the research question. A third assumption was that this group was representative of healthcare organizations. The last assumption was that the

participant's responses would be helpful in formulating strategies to reduce employee turnover in the healthcare and other business industries.

#### Limitations

Limitations are constraints that are largely beyond the researchers control but could affect the study's outcome (Simon & Goes, 2013). One limitation was the limited participants and secondary data used in this study. Limited participants for this study can result if there is not a large sample of nursing leaders who want to participate in the study. Furthermore, as a researcher, I cannot control the type of secondary data that the participating organization wants to provide for this study. Another limitation was the participants might not provide enough information in their responses to obtain saturation.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are defined as the boundaries established by the researcher (Simon & Goes, 2013). One delimitation for this study was only nurse leaders participated and other employees were not involved. The nursing leaders were from various healthcare organizations in New York State and other geographical locations were not involved. Another delimitation was that only certain healthcare organizations were selected for this study, which would not represent all healthcare organizations.

# Significance of the Study

High workload, stress, and an increased proportion of nonpatient duties lead to nurse dissatisfaction, which contributes to employee turnover (Wright & Mahar, 2013). A shortage of nurses can adversely affect patient quality of care (Cheng et al., 2016). This study is significant to business practice because it might help leaders to understand what

contributes to employee turnover in their organizations, which can impact patient quality care.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

This study may contribute to business practice because a reduction in employee turnover may result in an increase in productivity, profitability, and sustainability for organizations. The findings from this study may be helpful since successful strategies for reducing nurse turnover in the healthcare industry may improve patient care. This study is not only applicable to the healthcare industry, but it can be helpful to other industries and types of organizations.

## **Implications for Social Change**

The study may contribute to positive social change because reducing turnover may create employment stability. When employees remain employed, self-worth and self-esteem may increase, leading to happier employees at home and adding value to their communities. The findings from this study may also impact social change because happier employees may maintain stable employment, have less stress, less missed days of work, and increase productivity.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Managers are motivated to learn why employees voluntarily leave their jobs and how to prevent this loss (Reina et al., 2018). Employee turnover is costly when an employee leaves an organization; it affects morale, productivity, and profitability. Employee turnover is a key metric and performance indicator to evaluate fiscal and operational effectiveness (Kurnat-Thorma et al., 2017). It is challenging for healthcare

organizations to calculate and determine total turnover costs due to the changing external market and regulatory controls (Kurnat-Thorma et al., 2017). Hospital executives often do not prioritize reducing staff turnover, especially nursing turnover due to other demands and changing health care policies (Kurnat-Thorma et al., 2017).

I examined the professional and academic literature on employee turnover using the following search terms: *collective turnover*, *leadership style*, *nursing leadership*, *organizational culture*, *job-embeddedness*, *job satisfaction*, *employee engagement*, *organizational commitment*, and *employee turnover reasons*. I reviewed and examined 87 sources with 69 of the peer-reviewed articles (79%) had been published within 5 years of the expected graduation date of 2023.

Human capital is an important factor in understanding an organization's performance (Hancock et al., 2017). Hancock et al. (2017) noted that an organization's ability to retain its human capital is a key indicator of good human resources practices and a key factor for influencing firm performance. The theory used for this study was the context-emergent turnover (CET), which describes turnover and its effects on unit performance. I also explored different employee turnover and other theories to see how they are similar or different from CET such as collective turnover, human capital, resource-based view, conservation of resources, and job embeddedness theory.

# **Context-Emergent Turnover (CET) Theory**

Leaders use the CET theory to review employee turnover through both the qualitative (nonnumerical) and quantitative (numerical) aspects as it might affect organizational performance. Nyberg and Ployhart in 2013 introduced the CET theory

which describes the unit-level turnover within a dynamic systems lens to build a more sophisticated model that pays greater attention to the processes in which turnover rates affect organizations over time (Reilly et al., 2014).

Traditionally, employee turnover has been viewed as a single occurrence rather than viewing it on an aggregate level. Nyberg and Ployhart (2013) developed the CET theory to recognize that collective turnover is the aggregate quantity and quality of employee KSAOs depleted from the unit. According to Nyberg and Ployhart, collective turnover is the depletion of human capital resources. Human capital resources are individual- or unit-level capacities based on individual KSAOs that are accessible for unit-relevant purposes (Ployhart et al., 2014).

The CET theory differs from traditional turnover research because it proposes that collective turnover contains both quantitative and qualitative components that can change over time (Nyberg & Ployhart, 2013). Nyberg and Ployhart (2013) discussed the quantitative component as the rate of unit turnover, which is the percentage of employees who leave the unit. The qualitative component is the types of KSAOs lost and the degree of competence or quality of those KSAOs. Nyberg and Ployhart (2013) noted that the qualitative component is usually ignored in existing research, which mainly focuses on the quantitative side. Nyberg and Ployhart (2013) believed that quality is expected to have a greater impact on unit performance than quantity. The CET theory indicates that changes in turnover rate quality, such as losing high quality employees will worsen turnover rate change effects (Call et al., 2015). Although CET theory is a good starting point in addressing collective turnover, a deficit in unit-level turnover theory remains and

impedes understanding of how and why turnover affects unit performance. Reilly et al. (2014) addressed this deficit by focusing on the human capital flows (employee movement in and out of units) to explain how and why movements impact unit performance. Leaders who view employee turnover when an employee leaves the organization rather than looking at when the employee transfers to another department within the organization, which can have the same effect as human capital loss.

Call et al. (2015) built upon the CET theory to better understand the boundaries of established negative turnover rate relationships in dynamic systems. There are four ways that turnover rates and unit performance relationships influence turnover research. The first way is to develop conceptual and empirical distinctions between turnover rates and turnover rate changes (Call et al., 2015). The second is to examine how and why turnover rate quantity and quality work together over time to influence unit performance (Call et al., 2015). The third is to examine how turnover dispersion, defined as the extent to which turnover events are spread across time, influences the turnover rate change-unit performance relationship (Call et al., 2015). The fourth is testing CET theory predictions that effects due to losses (quantity or quality) may be affected by replacements (quantity or quality; Call et al., 2015). According to Brymer and Sirmon (2018), the CET theory is helpful in understanding the firm level consequences of losing multiple employees, also known as collective turnover over a time period.

Lee et al. (2017) discussed how Call et al. (2015) initially tested core CET principles and showed how the relationship between changes in the turnover rate and changes in unit performance is moderated by the quality of departed employees, turnover

dispersion across time, as well as quantity and quality of replacement hires. Kuypers et al. (2015) built upon the CET theory by arguing how team turnover requires the reassignment and readjustment of team roles, responsibilities, and task strategy, which increases task conflict within teams when someone leaves. The reassignment of roles and redistribution of tasks is not easy when a person leaves a team; the team may experience task conflicts due to the urgent need to redefine roles, redistribute tasks, and rework routines (Kuypers et al., 2015).

Hausknecht (2017) explained how the CET theory furthers the understanding of collective turnover based on the following reasons: (a) defined its emergence as a collective construct similar to individual behaviors, (b) outlined its relationship to human capital resources, (c) linked it to KSAOs, human capital resources, and unit performance, (d) specified the important role of replacement quality and quantity, and (e) described how climate and environmental conditions could have an impact on unit performance.

Simon et al. (2014) shared how Nyberg and Ployhart developed the CET theory to explain how the content of turnover rates, the quality of departing employees, and the human capital accumulation of the remaining employees may worsen the effects of turnover quantity on the unit or organizational performance. Simon et al. (2014) further elaborated that voluntary turnover is negatively related to unit performance when high quality employees leave resulting in organizations having lower human capital to protect against losses. Therefore, the relationship between quantity and quality of the departures should be examined instead of only looking at turnover rates, which can determine the performance of the collective team, unit, or organization (Simon et al., 2014).

Hale et al. (2016) noted that the CET theory has not explained why an individual turnover event may influence collective performance. Hale et al. (2016) addressed this gap by integrating the collective turnover framework with literature on team adaptability and change. Hale et al. (2016) discussed how team adaptation theories provide a high relevance for understanding individual turnover events because they address why collective performance is transformed in response to change.

Hale et al. (2016) developed a model that explains how units adapt to a turnover event in two distinct phases: disruption and recovery. The first phase is disruption, which is an immediate change in the collective performance when an employee leaves an organization. The second phase is the recovery, which is a gradual increase in the collective performance by the remaining employees after adapting to the loss of the employee. Hale et al. (2016) noted that the interdependence and the position or role of the employee, whether it is an employee or manager of the person who leaves an organization, can influence the performance of the disruptions and recovery rates.

Makarius and Stevens (2019) discussed how the CET theory is a theory of collective human capital grounded in resource-based view (RBV) of the firm, which aims at the critical need for understanding the inflows and outflows of human capital resources. Makarius and Stevens noted that the CET theory is a recent theory that describes the inflows and outflows of human capital resources of organizations resulting in a limited amount of research in this area. Makarius and Stevens further explained how other studies used the CET theory to demonstrate the significant and often negative implications of human capital flow on performance in organizations but do not

sufficiently address what causes the flows of the collective human capital. As a result, Makarius and Stevens extended and enhanced the CET theory by using it to (a) examine the relationship between a firm's reputation and the collective human capital outflows and inflows that it experiences and (b) explore the moderating role of labor market conditions.

Makarius and Stevens (2019) discussed how the CET theory is missing factors outside of the firm, such as the people perceptions of the firm, and the market in which the firm operates. Organizational reputation is an intangible resource that allows organizations to achieve their goals or performance (Makarius & Stevens, 2019). Makarius and Stevens (2019) used the CET theory to examine how an organization's reputation may affect turnover voluntarily and involuntarily as well as the type of people joining an organization.

Makarius and Stevens (2019) noted that an important part of the CET theory is issues relating to hiring and not only turnover. Makarius and Stevens examined two important aspects of inflows of human capital into organizations: the hiring ratios and the organization's vacant job opening ratios. These two aspects are affected by an organization's reputation. Therefore, it is important that organizations understand how a firm is perceived by others, which has an impact on the employee and employer human capital flows (Makarius & Stevens, 2019). It is also important that managers understand how external forces and labor markets might affect an organization's human capital flows (Makarius & Stevens, 2019). When the economy and labor markets are good, organizations have a difficult time decreasing their human capital flows due to employees

leaving resulting in organizations spending time and money to hire more people (Makarius & Stevens, 2019). It is important for leaders to understand the reasons why collective employee turnover exists within their organization, whether internally or externally, because it affects productivity, profitability, and sustainability. Once employee turnover reasons have been determined, the leader must make the necessary changes to address more effectively.

#### Other Theories Considered

#### Collective Turnover Theory

Traditionally, employee turnover has been researched and analyzed on an individual level rather than examining it on a collective (aggregate) level and its effect on an organization's performance. Bartunek et al. (2008) developed a process model of collective turnover that explained how a group of organization members decide to leave their organization collectively. This process model describes how two or more group members experience unresolved dissatisfaction and start stimulating a growing interaction process in which individuals with shared negative feelings and perceptions form cohesive groups. When these groups believe the problems will not be resolved, they collectively decide to leave an organization (Bartunek et al., 2008). Wang et al. (2017) explained how the process model shows the important role of relationships in organizations and its effect on collective turnover.

Hausknecht and Trevor (2011) defined collective turnover as the aggregate levels of employee departures that occur within groups, work units, or organizations. Collective turnover presents a great risk for firms since they do not know the managerial actions to

take to reduce their exposure to this kind of risk (Brymer & Sirmon, 2018). Wang et al. (2017) further defined collective turnover as the turnover of two or more organizational members within close proximity based on shared social processes and the decision to leave an organization. Hausknecht (2017) mentioned there is an interest and growing concern for understanding the causes and consequences of collective turnover compared to the individual level on why people quit. Hausknecht (2017) discussed how the process had been made for collective turnover, but there is still a need to continue understanding the conditions under which collective turnover develops, changes, and affects unit and organizational performance. The relationship between collective turnover and overall organizational performance can be negative (Hancock et al., 2017). Collective turnover is an event that includes the work unit's climate and the group level resources that are provided (Walumbwa et al., 2019). Walumbwa et al. (2019) explained how collective turnover relates to important issues such as employee morale, productivity, collective (firm) performance, and customer service quality, which ultimately affect the organization results. If leaders can gain a better understanding of employee turnover on an aggregate level, then they can address and make any necessary adjustments more quickly and effectively. The collective turnover theory is similar to the CET theory because it examines employee turnover on an aggregate level. However, the CET theory expands the collective turnover theory by looking at both the qualitative and quantitative aspects of employee turnover, which deals with the overall human capital element.

## **Human Capital Theory**

Leaders need to understand that employees are human beings that bring various skills, experiences, and personalities to an organization resulting in its unique culture and competitive advantage. When Nyberg and Ployhart introduced the CET theory in 2013, it provided a framework for collective turnover with a focus on human capital resource depletion (Wang et al., 2016). The human capital theory (HCT) is important in understanding how human capital resources are important to an organization. Park and Shaw (2012) discussed how the human capital theory suggests that more experienced employees perform better because they have accumulated the necessary knowledge and skills to perform the job. Therefore, when these experienced employees leave, the organization suffers since it loses the accumulated human capital. However, when an organization replaces the employee that left, it would take time for the replacement person to accumulate similar levels of human capital (Park & Shaw, 2012).

Human capital has been defined in terms of KSAOs, but an expansion of the theory examines human capital as a collective (unit-level) resource that can add to firm performance and competitive advantage (Ployhart, 2015). Ployhart (2015) further explained that the human capital theory initially focused on education attainment, experience, or knowledge. However, strategic management scholars later adopted the human capital theory to understand how internal resources contribute to firm performance and competitive advantage.

According to Ployhart (2015), three broad assumptions relate to the human capital theory. The first assumption is that human capital consists of education, experience,

knowledge, and/or skill. The second assumption is that human capital theory is mixed with resource-based theory (RBT) to add a distinction between general to specific human capital resources. The third assumption is that it came from a mixture of economics and RBT to expect the efficient factor markets for general human capital. Ployhart (2015) noted that some HCT concepts did not align well with RBT because they were developed to explain different questions and issues. It is important that leaders not only view employees as human capital but rather as a necessary and key resource needed for any organization to operate and function.

#### Resource-Based View Theory

Leaders need to value and appreciate the human capital resource since it is one of the most essential components for any organization to survive and maintain its competitive advantage. Birger Wernerfelt developed the resource-based view (RBV) theory in 1984 (Wernerfelt, 1984). The theory provides a framework for understanding the importance of organizational resources and offers an explanation that the performance and sustainability of an organization depend on the resources owned and controlled by the organization (Wernerfelt, 1984). The RBV theory has two outcomes in organizational management: the identification of the critical firm resources, which are driving performance, and the identification of the rough functional form of how performance is being driven by those resources (for example, the relationship of certain resource characteristic level changes to changes in performance; Arend & Levesque, 2010).

The RBV theory is based on the argument that organizational performance is determined by the key resources it owns (Min et al., 2016). The RBV theory

acknowledges that the strategic resources a firm control are essential to greater performance (Kull et al., 2016). Resources can be either tangible or intangible assets in which a firm uses for its day-to-day operations (Ahmad & Mohamed, 2018). Ahmad and Mohamed (2018) further explained that tangible resources have visible and physical features, which may include: land, buildings, plants, supplies, and equipment compared to intangible resources that have invisible and not physical features, such as the organization's culture, attributes and information capabilities, strategies, processes, knowledge, brand equity, reputation, and intellectual property. The basic RBV theory argument is that valuable, rare, inimitable, and nonsubstitutable resources are the basis of performance improvement (Hitt et al., 2016).

Bromiley and Rau (2016) discussed how measuring valuable resources or factors that organizations cannot imitate creates serious issues in determining the value independent of the factors that impact performance. Hitt et al. (2016) explained how organizations must be managed effectively by selecting, developing, and bundling both tangible and intangible resources in order to create capabilities. Hitt et al. (2016) discussed how intangible resources are harder to imitate and difficult to substitute resulting in a competitive advantage for an organization. Leaders should understand and recognize that human capital is an intangible resource essential for sustainability.

**Resource-Based View of the Firm (RBVF)**. Intellectual capital is an intangible resource that enables leaders to maintain their competitive advantage. The resource-based view of the firm (RBVF) is an approach that considers the strategy derived from an organization's internal resources (Campbell & Park, 2016). The RBVF suggested that an

organization's sustainable competitive advantage can be achieved if internal resources are used to help protect against competitors and other external market forces that might negatively impact performance (Campbell & Park, 2016). Campbell and Park (2016) explained that an organization's resources were the primary driver of determining performance or competitive advantage outcomes. An important aspect of RBVF is intellectual capital, which is an intangible resource consisting of employee knowledge, experience, and skill set (Campbell & Park, 2016). The intellectual capital resource is often difficult to imitate, which has a great value to the firm and directly affects an organization's performance (Campbell & Park, 2016).

Chatzoglou and Chatzoudes (2018) discussed how the resource-based view of the organization focuses on the unique resources of an organization. The overall goal of an organization is to develop and use a combination of valuable and rare resources that its competitors cannot imitate to achieve a competitive advantage (Chatzoglou & Chatzoudes, 2018). Chatzoglou and Chatzoudes (2018) also stated how a successful organizational structure relates to building and reorganizing internal and external competencies in order to respond to the rapidly changing external environment. The RBVF approach can help leaders to understand the importance of human capital as a competitive business strategy.

#### Conservation of Resources (COR) Theory

Human capital is one of the most valuable resources that leaders should invest time, money, and energy to maintain and protect. The conservation of resources (COR) theory developed by Stevan Hobfoll in 1989 and 2001 is a motivational theory that

describes a resource-oriented stress model founded on the notion that individuals are motivated to retain, protect, and build resources to buffer against the threat of the potential or actual loss of valued resources (Halbesleben et al., 2014). The COR theory suggests that people are motivated to create, protect, foster, and nurture their resources (Lanivich, 2015). Fatima et al. (2018) noted that the COR theory includes how employees want to conserve, accumulate, retain resources, and avoid resource losses. As a result, the COR theory proposes that individuals continuously strive to seek, acquire, and maintain resources (Fatima et al., 2018). The COR theory also explains the complicated relationship between perceived employability and turnover intentions (Acikgoz et al., 2016).

Jin et al. (2018) discussed that the COR theory states that a threat to resources can lead to emotional and/or physical exhaustion resulting in turnover intention because individuals want to protect and maintain their existing resources. Jin et al. (2018) mentioned that there are three reasons why the COR theory can influence employee turnover intentions. The first reason is when an employee sees a threat to his or her valuable resources and anticipates a future loss. The second reason is when the employee already lost the resource. The third reason is when the worker is unable to gain a significant amount of resources after an investment.

Prapanjaroensin et al. (2017) discussed the resources involved in the COR theory, which include objects, conditions, personal characteristics, and energies. The first resource is objects, which is the physical presence like food, shelter, clothing, and things linked to socioeconomic status (Prapanjaroensin et al., 2017). The second resource is

conditions, which are the structures or states like social relationships, work status, and good health that influence whether an employee stays or leaves a job (Prapanjaroensin et al., 2017). The third resource is personal characteristics resources are defined as individual traits and coping skills (Prapanjaroensin et al., 2017). The last resource is energies and is considered the valued skills and abilities that can be exchanged for other resources such as time, money, and knowledge (Prapanjaroensin et al., 2017). Prapanjaroensin et al. (2017) noted that when there is a constant threat to these valued resources, it can lead to burnout and have an effect on job performance.

Carnevale et al. (2018) explained how the COR theory suggests that individuals strive to acquire, protect, and preserve valuable resources as a way to protect against anxiety and stress. The resources in this theory are objects, conditions, personal characteristics, or energies, which are used to attain future resources, preserve current resources, or protect against the threat of resource loss (Carnevale et al., 2018). Carnevale et al. (2018) noted that the COR theory describes that a threat or loss to an individual resource can cause psychological distress that can harm a person's well-being and work behavior. Carnevale et al. (2018) explained that the COR theory has key motivational effects that focus on two primary viewpoints: resource acquisition and resource conservation. The resource acquisition view suggests that individuals are motivated to actively get involved in their environment to increase their current level of resources (Carnevale et al., 2018). However, the resource conservation view suggests that individuals are motivated to avoid resource loss by withdrawing themselves from

situations or behaviors viewed to be threatening to their current or future resources (Carnevale et al., 2018).

Fatima et al. (2018) discussed how individuals continuously striving to seek, acquire, and maintain resources. When there is a threat of a loss, actual loss, or lack of expected gain in resources, this can develop into a withdrawal state until some resources are regained from the loss (Fatima et al., 2018). Fatima et al. (2018) introduced the concept of work alienation, which is defined as the difference between the employee perception regarding work activities along certain dimensions such as meaning, self-expression, and power compared to these dimension expectations. As a result, work alienation can hinder employees from performing better due to resource losses (Fatima et al., 2018).

Penny et al. (2011) discussed when resources are threatened or insufficient to meet demand, and then it results in undesirable outcomes. It is important to understand how resources are interconnected because resource losses in some employees can result in resource losses among other employees (Hobfoll et al., 2018). Therefore, organizations need to examine how resources are invested following losses because it can affect job satisfaction, work attitude, variations in job performance, and strained coworker relationships (Halbesleben et al., 2014). If leaders effectively invest in human capital resources, then it might lead to more job embeddedness resulting in a reduction in employee turnover.

#### Job Embeddedness Theory

Employees who feel valued, respected, and connected to an organization are more likely to become embedded within the work environment. Purba et al. (2016) explained that the job embeddedness theory examined the psychological reasons why people may choose to leave an organization. Job embeddedness represents a broad collection of reasons why it is hard for an individual to leave their current job (Purba et al., 2016). Mitchell et al. (2001) discussed how job embeddedness consists of three on and off the job dimensions: links, fit, and sacrifice, which describes one's aggregate level of embeddedness. Mitchell et al. (2001) explained that links refer to one's formal or informal ties to institutions or other people, the fit is one's perceived compatibility with their work and community, and sacrifice is the perceived psychological, social, or material costs of leaving one's organization or community.

Allen et al. (2016) discussed the other aspect of job embeddedness and its potentially negative outcomes. There could be high embeddedness and an adverse work environment, which produce negative outcomes for employees if they cannot easily leave the negative situation (Allen et al., 2016). Allen et al. (2016) adopted the COR perspective to suggest that the motivation to preserve resources would constrain embedded employees from leaving, even if they are working in adverse work conditions that result in negative health outcomes. Allen et al. (2016) explained that it is important to understand that being embedded in an organization can be neither good nor bad, but the work environment determines if an employee stays or leaves.

Oladeji and Ayinde (2018) discussed how job embeddedness influences an employee's decision about whether he or she wants to remain or leave an organization. Organizations should understand that their employees are embedded in the job, which might increase employee retention and decrease the chance of them leaving an organization (Oladeji & Ayinde, 2018). Oladeji and Ayinde (2018) noted that if they want to stay with the organization, there is also a positive effect on organizational performance. If leaders can understand the rationale behind job embeddedness, they will be better prepared to address employee turnover issues.

# Employee Turnover

Employee turnover is a human capital challenge that leaders should understand and address in order to be productive, profitable, and sustainable. Employee turnover costs are a major challenge for many organizations (Carter et al., 2019). Carter et al. (2019) discussed how employee turnover could cost around twenty percent or higher of their salary for recruiting, training, and lost productivity. Turnover can have a major influence on a firm's competitive advantage because human capital is responsible for the success of an organization (Dierendonck et al., 2016). There are many reasons for employee turnover, which can range from external factors such as employment opportunities to organizational factors like leadership style and workplace environment as well as personal factors (job dissatisfaction; Shafique et al., 2018). The overall corporate culture of an organization affects employee turnover (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Al Mamun and Hasan (2017) noted that the instability in the management of an organization causes high employee turnover. High turnover can imply poor staffing and selection

policy, poor supervisory system, weak grievance procedure and lack of motivation (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Employees are more likely to stay with organizations that appreciate and treat them with respect as well as provide decent compensation, benefits, and perks (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017).

Renaud et al. (2017) discussed how employee turnover can consist of two key components: movement within an organization (intra-organizational turnover) and outside of an organization (extra-organizational turnover). Renaud et al. (2017) further elaborated that extra-organizational turnover can consist of hiring and leaving an employee from an organization. Renaud et al. (2017) noted that turnover can be voluntary or involuntary, meaning the decision to depart is either made by the employee or the employer. Voluntary turnover can be further broken down as functional and dysfunctional (Renaud et al., 2017). Functional voluntary turnover is when a low performing employee leaves, which benefits the organization (Renaud et al., 2017). However, dysfunctional voluntary turnover is when a high-level employee leaves an organization resulting in a detrimental loss (Renaud et al., 2017). Voluntary turnover represents a challenge to organizations in achieving their strategic goals (Memon et al., 2016).

Rosario-Hernandez et al. (2018) explained that the greatest challenge for organizations is competing globally by attracting and retaining employees with essential or critical skills. Guha and Chakrabarti (2016) discussed how human resources are considered intangible capital with unique functional capabilities that can control and add to the physical capital and other resources. Organizations seek better ways to manage

turnover and retain valued human resources resulting in increased performance (Liu et al., 2012). If leaders can develop more time and attention to effectively manage their human capital, then employee turnover may be reduced within their organizations.

*Nursing Turnover.* Nurses are essential employees for healthcare organizations worldwide and are faced with workplace challenges that may impact turnover. In the United States and globally, nursing turnover and shortages are growing problems that contribute to perceived negative work environments resulting in burnout (Adams et al., 2019). Nursing burnout has been identified as a key risk factor for nursing turnover (Adams et al., 2019). Adams et al. (2019) explained that nursing turnover and shortages negatively affect patient safety and the delivery of quality health care. In addition, nursing turnover is a large organizational expense (Adams et al., 2019). According to Adams et al. (2019), the estimated cost of nursing turnover can range from \$10,000 to \$88,000 per vacancy, which varies by the position. Adams et al. (2019) noted that vacancy turnover costs translate to an overall turnover cost, which can range from \$550,000 to \$8.5 million per organization. Organizations not only have to deal with the financial problem relating to nursing turnover, but they also must address the increased strain and stress placed on the remaining nurses (Adams et al., 2019). Adams et al. (2019) explained that poor nursing morale, negative work cultures, and burnout result in high turnover and ultimately affect patient care. The key factors affecting nursing turnover are work environment and job satisfaction (Adams et al., 2019).

Another factor that contributes to nursing turnover is nursing leadership styles, which have an impact on nurses' job satisfaction and anticipated turnover (Pishgooie et

al., 2018). Effective leadership is essential to reducing nursing turnover and increasing nursing retention rates (Nelsey & Brownie, 2012). Nelsey and Brownie (2012) noted that nursing managers play a vital role in reducing employee burnout and high absenteeism among the staff since they are responsible for assigning workloads. Nursing managers that can show they have good conflict resolution skills, create a positive and rewarding environment, and understand the organization's vision while motivating nurses lead to increased job satisfaction (Nelsey & Brownie, 2012). Lee et al. (2019) discussed that effective nursing leadership in healthcare organizations relates to employee job satisfaction, increased retention, decreased turnover, and increased patient quality of care. If nursing leaders can effectively address issues affecting the work environment, then there might be greater job satisfaction resulting in a reduction in nursing turnover.

Job Satisfaction. Employees who are satisfied with their work environment are more productive and less likely to leave an organization. Organizational culture affects job satisfaction presumably through the intermediate process and interpersonal teamwork (Komer et al., 2015). Job satisfaction is defined as a pleasurable or positive environment resulting from the appraisal of one's job or job experience. An organization with a strong culture helps employees to accomplish their goals and tasks, which enables them to be satisfied with their jobs. Job satisfaction influences the perception of quality care, patient outcomes, and performance (Komer et al., 2015).

Job satisfaction influences efficiency, productivity, employee relations, absenteeism, turnover, and organizational performance (Arokiasamy & Tat, 2019). When an employee is satisfied with his or her job, then he or she is more responsible and

committed to an organization (Arokiasamy & Tat, 2019). Arokiasamy and Tat (2019) indicated that job satisfaction positively affects employees' performance and commitment while reducing absenteeism and turnover, which leads to organizational effectiveness and goal achievement.

Acker (2018) discussed how job satisfaction is linked to employee turnover intention because it relates to employee attitudes and feelings about their jobs. Job satisfaction entails the characteristics and demands of an employee's work and the degree to which the job fulfills the employee's needs, expectations, and values (Acker, 2018). Acker (2018) noted that when there is a higher level of job satisfaction, then there is a decreased risk of employees leaving their jobs.

Stater and Stater (2019) explained some causes why employees become dissatisfied and leave their jobs, such as burnout, compensation issues, and limited advancement opportunities. Job satisfaction can involve different work rewards, which can help to improve the overall work experience (Stater & Stater, 2019). These rewards are broken down into extrinsic and intrinsic categories (Stater & Stater (2019). Extrinsic rewards are described as the external factors once the work or assignment has been performed, such as pay, benefits, peer relationships, job security, work environment, etc. (Stater & Stater, 2019). However, the intrinsic rewards relate to the job tasks and their effect on the employees personal and psychological development (Stater & Stater, 2019). When leaders understand what makes employees satisfied with their jobs resulting in reduced employee turnover within their organizations.

Workplace Stress. Employee stress is often overlooked and needs to be effectively addressed in organizations. A contributing factor to employee turnover in the nursing industry as well as in other industries is workplace stress related to high workloads, stressful work environments or situations (Currie & Carr Hill, 2012). A reaction to workplace stress is burnout, which is related to prolonged work-related stress (Adams et al., 2019). Adams et al. (2019) described burnout as emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, decreased personal efficacy, and cynicism. Adams et al. (2019) noted that nursing burnout is associated with hopelessness, apathy, and poor job performance. Burnout is related to physical, mental, and emotional health problems as well as a key factor for nurse turnover. Aluwihare-Samaranayake et al. (2018) discussed how nurses work long hours, experience frequent shift changes, and personal safety risks, which are some factors that contribute to workplace stress. Adams et al. (2019) explained how poor nursing morale, negative work environments, nursing burnout, and high levels of turnover can affect patient care.

One of the main reasons for employee turnover is workplace stress, which is a global problem affecting many professions (Jarupathirun & De Gennaro, 2018).

Jarupathirun and De Gennaro (2018) also noted that employees might leave an organization due to poor working conditions, long working hours, and bad relationships with colleagues. An employee would leave a job immediately due to workplace stress (Jarupathirun & De Gennaro, 2018). Jarupathirun and De Gennaro (2018) further explained that businesses should be concerned about workplace stress and its effect on employee motivation and productivity. The effects of workplace stress can result in

employees developing health problems or a decline in job satisfaction; both can lead to employee turnover (Jarupathirun & De Gennaro, 2018). Steege et al. (2017) explained that fatigue in nurse leadership could affect nurses' ability to provide good care to patients. Steege et al. (2017) discussed that high levels of chronic fatigue among nursing managers show a need for organizational support to evaluate and maybe redesign leadership structure and workload. Workplace stress and employee turnover can result from the type of leadership.

# **Organizational Leadership**

Leaders determine how a business functions and operates, which can influence employee satisfaction and their intent to stay or leave an organization. Leadership can impact job satisfaction, job performance, and decrease turnover intentions (Shafique et al., 2018). Shafique et al. (2018) discussed how employees who are satisfied with their jobs perform better and stay with an organization. The healthcare industry is constantly changing, resulting in healthcare leaders needing to adapt to decreased resources, higher expectations, and shortages of trained workers (Herd et al., 2016). The role of nursing leadership in healthcare organizations is believed to be an important determinant of healthy work environments and an important contributor to nursing excellence (Cheng et al., 2016). Cheng et al. (2016) noted that effective leadership can impact the performance of nurses, job satisfaction, and retention. Adopting the appropriate leadership styles may offer healthcare organizations a good way to address issues related to nurse retention and patient quality care (Cheng et al., 2016). There has been a strong correlation between leadership styles and job satisfaction as well as anticipated turnover (Pishgooie et al.,

2018). According to Asamani et al. (2016), the type of leadership styles shown by nursing managers is an important factor in determining if a nurse stays or leaves their jobs. For nursing managers to be effective in managing their staff, they must use either a specific leadership style or a combination of different styles (Asamani et al., 2016). Asamani et al. (2016) noted that if nursing managers use an appropriate leadership style, it can have a major influence on job satisfaction among nursing staff. Alloubani et al. (2018) discussed how leaders can influence patient satisfaction. In addition, nursing manager leadership styles can influence the patient quality of care as well as the organization's performance (Alloubani et al., 2018). The leadership type is an essential aspect of how effectively an organization is managed and operated, which influences productivity and performance.

Transformational Leadership. Employees look to leaders to set the tone by providing guidance and direction on ways to perform their jobs. A relational leadership style is where the followers have trust and respect for a leader in that they are motivated to do more than required to achieve organizational goals (Boamah et al., 2018).

According to Boamah et al. (2018), transformational leadership has four key components: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration. Idealized influence is the attributes and behaviors in which a leader serves as a role model for followers by establishing high standards of conduct and articulating the organizational vision (Boamah et al., 2018). Inspirational motivation is the reflection of the leader's vision through words, symbols, and imagery in order to motivate followers to respond (Boamah et al., 2018). Intellectual stimulation is when the leader asks

employees to provide their viewpoints on problems in deciding to reach a decision (Boamah et al., 2018). Individualized consideration is when a leader looks to coach or mentor their employees to enable them to reach their greatest potential (Boamah et al., 2018).

Boamah et al. (2018) noted that transformational leadership had been linked to employee attitudes and behaviors in management and nursing settings. Boamah et al. (2018) explained that the four components of transformational leadership might create structurally empowering work environments. Therefore, transformational leadership is important in creating work environments that can support professional nursing practice resulting in good outcomes for patients and nurses (Boamah et al., 2018). As a result, effective and good leadership is essential for productive and sustainable organizations.

Transactional Leadership. Transactional leadership is a leadership style based on bureaucracy and organizational standards (Boamah & Tremblay, 2019). Boamah and Tremblay (2019) explained that Bernard Bass in 1985 defined transactional leadership as a process in which leaders expect followers to perform services in exchange for payment and fulfilling their demands. Boamah and Tremblay (2019) stated that transactional leadership consists of three components: contingent reward, management-by-exception-active, and management-by-exception-passive. Contingent reward is when there is an exchange of rewards between leaders and followers, where effort is recognized by providing rewards for good performance or disciplines for poor performance.

Management-by-exception active is when leaders monitor when someone makes mistakes. Management-by-exception-passive is when the leader gets involved when the

followers are not accomplishing a task (Boamah & Tremblay, 2019). Leaders need to understand that employees work at an organization not only to be compensated but also for a sense of community involvement and interaction.

Servant Leadership. The servant leader focuses on putting the needs of followers and stakeholders first (Hoch et al., 2018). Servant leadership focuses on the development and well-being of its followers to achieve long term organizational goals (Hoch et al., 2018). There are ten characteristics of servant leaders: listening, empathy, healing, awareness, persuasion, conceptualization, foresight, stewardship, growth commitment of others, and building community (Hoch et al., 2018). Gandolfi and Stone (2018) discussed how servant leadership includes the ability of the individuals to succeed and then on the mission success. This leadership type requires a leader to focus on serving followers and putting their needs last ultimately leading to the organization mission being accomplished (Gandolfi & Stone, 2018).

Authentic Leadership. Some leaders understand the value and benefit of the diversity that each employee brings to an organization. Wei et al. (2018) discussed how Avolio et al. in 2004 defined authentic leaders as people who have achieved high levels of authenticity in which they know who they are, what they believe and value, and they act on those values and beliefs while interacting with others. Wei et al. (2018) explained that there are four types of behaviors that authentic leaders display: self-awareness, balanced processing, internalized moral perspective (authentic behavior), and relational transparency. Self-awareness is the understanding of a person's strengths and weaknesses and the multi-layered nature of oneself (Wei et al., 2018). Balanced processing is

objectively analyzing all the relevant information before making a fair decision (Wei et al., 2018). Internalized moral perspective is self-regulation guided by internal moral standards and values instead of behavior based on external societal pressures (Wei et al., 2018). Relational transparency is an active process of self-disclosure that shows one's authentic self, true thoughts, and feelings to followers and develops mutual intimacy and trust (Wei et al., 2018). Wei et al. (2018) noted that authentic leadership could positively influence follower's job performance, the performance improvements in the form of task performance, and organizational citizenship behavior. Leaders with authentic leadership could enhance the workplace culture resulting in increased productivity and performance while reducing employee turnover.

### **Organizational Culture**

Leaders influence the organizational culture, which impacts job satisfaction and productivity, ultimately affecting an organization's performance. Organizational culture is described as the way things are done in organizations, and organizational climate is the way in which employees of an organization perceive and experience in their work environment (Galdikiene et al., 2016). Galdikiene et al. (2016) defined culture as normative beliefs and shared behavioral expectations in an organizational unit. Therefore, organizational culture is the expectations and values of what is important in a specific organization (Galdikiene et al., 2016). Ethical organizational culture influences the working environment, which can be a reason for attracting and keeping employees and managers of an organization (Kangas et al., 2018).

In primary care teams, culture and leadership are important factors in predicting an organizational climate (Galdikiene et al., 2016). Organizational culture can be identified by four types: hierarchy culture, clan culture, market culture, and adhocracy culture (de Almeida & de Brito Mello, 2017). The hierarchy culture is a work environment that is formal and structured with various hierarchical levels with long term stability, predictability, and efficiency. The clan culture assumes the ideal way to obtain results is through work teams. The market culture always focuses on results and productivity. The adhocracy culture focuses on flexibility and targets producing innovative products and services.

Organizational culture has an impact on employees' behaviors, attitudes, organizational activities, and organizational performance (Ahmed et al., 2018). Ahmed et al. (2018) explained that organizational culture influences employee attitudes relating to organizational commitment, job satisfaction, employee performance, and turnover intentions. Friedman and Rabkin (2018) explained how a hospital might suffer issues with management or workplace environment, which can affect the organization's performance in the long term. Therefore, it is important to have good information about the work environment and leadership so that appropriate changes can be addressed sooner rather than later (Friedman & Rabkin, 2018). As a result, management needs to foster an organizational culture that can decrease employee turnover while increasing the quality of good organization-employee relationships (Kim et al., 2017).

Yan (2016) discussed the relationship between different leadership styles and organizational culture. Yan (2016) explained there is a positive correlation between

organizational culture and employee job satisfaction. Black and La Venture (2018) discussed that an organizational mission that focuses on people leads to long term and lasting success of the employees, employers, and the company itself. Black and La Venture (2018) noted that trust is formed when work environments focus on people. This leverages the talent within an organization, and then it can be used to develop performance and business success that reflects an organizational culture. Organizations that focus on making people the first priority will achieve the people oriented organizational climate (Black & La Venture, 2018). Black and La Venture (2018) also explained that an organization's culture agrees with the industry culture and the competitive environment; employees find it easier to implement the company's strategy.

When an organizational culture is developed and grown within the company, then its values, beliefs, and behaviors are rooted (Black & La Venture, 2018). Ultimately, the people determine if an organization is successful or fails (Black & La Venture, 2018). Therefore, the relationship established between an organization and its employees should be treated as important and delicate (Kim et al., 2017). Kim et al. (2017) discussed how the organization-employee relationships could be influenced by various factors, such as the culture and job satisfaction resulting in whether an employee leaves or stays with an organization.

Cronley and Kim (2016) explained that a functional organizational culture results in higher job satisfaction and lower turnover intention. Cronley and Kim (2016) noted that the type of organizational culture can depend on the type of employees and work environments. As a result, there is a need to explore how individual characteristics can

affect the organizational culture and work environment (Cronley & Kim, 2016). Ravasi and Schultz (2006) stated that organizational culture is a set of shared mental assumptions that guide interpretation and action in organizations by defining appropriate behavior for various situations. Organizational culture affects how people and groups interact with each other, clients, and stakeholders (Rappaport & Richter, 2013). Leaders influence the organizational culture, employee performance, and intent to stay with the organization.

#### Person-Organization Fit

Organizational and cultural fit are interchangeable components that can impact an employee's performance, success, and intent to stay with the organization. An important part of employment relationships is person-organization (P-O) fit because it enables organizations to provide insight on effectively communicating with employees and address their concerns (Jin et al., 2018). Jin et al. (2018) explained that the perceived fit might influence employee turnover intentions and job satisfaction. As Jin et al. (2018) described, there are two types of perceived fit characteristics: supplementary fit and complementary fit. The supplementary fit is when both the employee and the organization share the same essential characteristics as values and goals. The complementary fit is when a person provides what the other needs. Jin et al. (2018) suggested that the P-O fit might be associated with reduced turnover intention if employees with high perceptions are aligned with the organizational values.

Hunt (2014) discussed how organizational-employee fit influences job satisfaction and turnover in an organization. Hunt (2014) provided a definition called value

congruence, which is one way of measuring or determining how a person fits on a job. Hunt (2014) indicated that value congruence is the shared values that an organization and its employees exhibit, influencing leadership and patient outcomes. An employee who feels that an organization is meeting his or her needs has increased job satisfaction and a lower chance of turnover (Hunt, 2014). Sensenig (2009) discussed the foundations for profitability consist of having the right people for an organization. Having the right people in an organization leads to an increase in productivity and performance.

Sensenig (2009) described how a successful team starts with leadership and aligning talent to reach full productivity. Developing a diverse team of people is one of the best ways to offer different perspectives on issues, which might reduce employee turnover. Lastly, Sensenig (2009) mentioned how establishing commitment and maintaining it are one of the ways to an organization's success. Giorgi et al. (2016) explained how poor organizational culture, workplace bullying, and burnout are causes of negative psychological and physical health. People often perceive bullying and negative workplace organizational climate as reasons for burnout (Giorgi et al., 2016). Burnout is likely to exist where there is negative communication, poor leadership, and a lack of support in organizations (Giorgi et al., 2016). Portoghese et al. (2015) discussed how nursing turnover could be prevented if nursing managers can create healthy work environments that focus on effective leadership to build better workplace relationships. If time is spent on focusing and developing high-quality relationships among employees, this could help reduce the intention to leave a work unit and provide better quality of care

(Portoghese et al., 2015). When leaders invest in human capital, the organizational culture improves, resulting in increased job satisfaction, productivity, and sustainability.

#### **Transition**

In Section 1, I explained the background of the problem surrounding this study, which was followed by the problem and purpose statements. The overall research question was identified that addressed the specific business problem. Also, this section identified the interview questions that were asked to the participants. The nature of the study was discussed where it briefly described and justified the methodology and design that was used in this study. The CET theory is the conceptual framework that was used in this study. This section included operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations that surround this study. The significance of the study was discussed as it relates to the business practice contribution and the implications for social change. Lastly, there was a review of the professional and academic literature as it connected the conceptual framework to the research topic on employee turnover.

In Section 2, the overall research project was discussed in greater detail the role of the researcher, participants selection, the specific research method and design used in this study, the ethical research surrounding this study, the data collection instruments and techniques, identified the data analysis used, and it also addresses the reliability and validity of the data. In Section 3, I presented the research findings and application to professional business practice. I discussed how the findings have an implication for social change as well as recommendations for action and further research. Lastly, I provided some reflections on what I learned during the DBA doctoral study process.

# Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I provide the purpose statement for this study on employee turnover in the healthcare industry. I describe my role as the researcher in this study and the participants selection process. I explain and justify the reasons for using a particular research method and design for this study. I define the population type and the type of sampling method that was used in this study. The ethical research that surrounds this study in terms of protecting the participants confidentiality is also reviewed. I also discuss the data collection instruments and techniques that were used in this study as well as identify the data analysis process used in this study. Last, I identified how the reliability and validity of the data were addressed.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies nursing leaders in the healthcare industry use to reduce employee turnover. The targeted population was six nursing leaders from healthcare organizations located in New York State who have successfully reduced employee turnover. The findings from this study could create a positive social change by reducing turnover and creating stable employment, which may reduce individuals' reliance on governmental services.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

The role of the researcher is to be unbiased and impartial, and to maintain the confidentiality of the participants as well as the data. I am not a healthcare professional, nor do I work in the healthcare industry, but I have had experience with employee turnover in my career. I did not have a direct relationship to this topic, the company, or

any of the participants. However, I did live in the research area during the study, which is New York State. I mitigated any personal bias by listening and journaling exact words and phrases from the participants. The researcher role in the qualitative research study is to interact with participants, collect data, and interpret the research findings (Karagiozis, 2018). Qualitative researchers must minimize and disclose any personal assumptions or biases during collecting, coding, and sorting of data to obtain an accurate representation on the topic (Clark & Veale, 2018). I followed the protocol as outlined in the Belmont Report (1979) and attended to: (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, (c) justice, (d) informed consent, (e) assessment of risks and benefits, and (f) selection of subjects. Participants were provided the informed consent before participating in the study. According to Alshengeeti (2014), participants should be informed that their participation is voluntary, and they can withdraw at any time. In order to protect the participants' rights, the researcher should ensure that the data collected will be confidential (Alshenqeeti, 2014). A brief explanation of my study's nature and the participants' rights were explained and provided (see Alshengeeti, 2014). This study was about employee turnover, which might be a topic of interest to leaders due to the negative impact turnover has on the productivity, profitability, and sustainability of a business.

Different types of interview techniques are used to obtain information in research (Alsaawi, 2014). The research question and the responses needed determine what type of interviews to be conducted (Alsaawi, 2014). The types of interviews are structured, unstructured, semistructured, and focus groups. A structured interview is a controlled way to obtain information from interviews by the researcher having written down

questions before conducting the interview (Alsaawi, 2014). Unstructured interviews are open-ended and flexible (Alsaawi, 2014). Semistructured interviews are a mixture of structured and unstructured interviews, where the questions are preplanned before the interview, and the participant also has the ability to elaborate and explain particular issues through open-ended questions (Alsaawi, 2014).

For this study, I conducted semistructured interviews, that were not face-to-face with participants to obtain information related to successful strategies used to address employee turnover in their organizations. Due to the public health (Coronavirus) crisis that was affecting everyone globally at the time of data collection, I conducted semistructured virtual face-to-face interviews by telephone and Zoom. By conducting interviews, I obtained first-hand knowledge and experience from the participants on strategies they used to reduce employee turnover.

## **Participants**

The justification for the number of participants in the sample is based on the data collected as well as the depth and transparency of the responses (Saunders & Townsend, 2016). The ideal participants were nursing leaders who work in healthcare organizations and have used successful strategies for addressing employee turnover. The participants were current employees working in healthcare organizations located in New York State. The strategies that I used to gain access to participants included obtaining information from professional associations, cold-calling, and social media such as LinkedIn to see if they were interested in participating in this study. To establish a working relationship

with the participants, I assured them that their involvement in this study was strictly confidential and voluntary.

### **Research Method and Design**

#### **Research Method**

For this study about employee turnover among nurses in the healthcare industry, I used the qualitative research method. The qualitative method is mainly used to answer how and why questions (Hamilton & Finley, 2020). The qualitative method was appropriate for this study because it addressed the why and how questions related to employee turnover among nurses in the healthcare industry. A quantitative method involves collecting and analyzing numbers (data) to determine if there are any relationships between variables. A quantitative method was not a good choice for this study because numbers will not be analyzed. A mixed methods design combines the qualitative and quantitative methods for data collection and analysis used for a research study (Wilson, 2016). A mixed methods design was not a viable option because of the quantitative component of analyzing relationships or testing hypotheses, which was not needed for this study.

## **Research Design**

For this study, I used a multiple case study research design. Case study research is when a "how" or "why" is being asked about a contemporary set of events over which the researcher has little or no control (Yin, 2018). These "how" and "why" questions capture what you are interested in addressing that might lead you to the case study method (Yin, 2018). Case study can be used to explore, describe, or explain a particular event

involving individuals, groups, and organizations (Yates & Leggett, 2016). The case study research design was appropriate for this study to examine employee turnover within a real-life environment through open-ended questions. Other research designs used for qualitative research include phenomenology, grounded theory, and ethnography. Phenomenology design seeks meaning from appearances and arrives at essences through intuition and reflection on conscious experience leading to ideas, concepts, judgments, and understandings (Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenology involves studying people's lived experiences (Yates & Leggett, 2016). A phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study because I was not conducting research on the participant's lived experiences. Grounded research theory objective is to generate rather than test a theory (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Grounded research theory was not appropriate for this study because I did not plan to create a theory. Ethnographic research is the study of an entire cultural group as the researcher describes and interprets shared and learned patterns of values, behaviors, beliefs, and language of a culture group (Yates & Leggett, 2016). The ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because I did not intend to explore patterns of individuals or a culture.

In qualitative research, data saturation occurs when no new information can change the researched phenomenon (Nascimento et al., 2018). I ensured data saturation was reached by continuing with interviews until no new information or themes emerged. If data saturation was not achieved with the initial participants, I continued with interviews until I achieved data saturation. I recruited participants (nursing leaders) based on the selected criteria to start the interview process.

### **Population and Sampling**

The targeted population for this study was nursing leaders located in New York
State who have successfully reduced employee turnover within healthcare organizations.
The nursing leaders were age 18 and older. The nursing leaders had experience in
successfully decreasing employee turnover within their respective organizations. I
interviewed six nursing leaders from healthcare organizations in New York State. I
recruited participants based on the selected criteria to start the interviewing process. I
used a purposive sampling method for this qualitative multiple case study. The purposive
or judgment sampling method is where the participant selection is based on the
individual's characteristics (Etikan et al., 2016). The purposive sampling method is a
nonrandom technique that does not need any underlying theories or a set number of
participants (Etikan et al., 2016).

In recruiting participants (nursing leaders), I conducted research on healthcare organizations in New York State that have successfully reduced employee turnover. Once I obtained a list of multiple healthcare organizations that meet the study criteria, I contacted each healthcare organization's Human Resources (HR) department and explained the background and purpose of the study that I was conducting to see if they were interested in participating in my study. If I received approval from a potential healthcare organization's HR department to participate in the study, I asked for the names and contact information of nursing leaders that meet the study criteria. After obtaining the potential participants (nursing leaders) contact information, I emailed them to see if they were interested in participating in the study. In addition, I contacted professional

associations about reaching out to their members to see if they were interested in participating in this study. The professional association sent out an email to its members and posted on its website about the study. I also contacted potential participants via social media (LinkedIn) to see if there were interested in participating in this study. If potential participants express interest, I sent a detailed email with the informed consent form and any required documentation. The purpose of the informed consent form is to let the participants know their rights to withdraw from the study at any time and explain how the confidentiality of the data is maintained.

The interview setting appropriate for this study would be virtual face-to-face interactions using the telephone or electronic communication programs like Zoom.

Before conducting the interview, I informed the participants of their rights to withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. I audio-recorded the interview using a digital recorder. I informed each participant that the interview would take approximately 30-60 minutes. I scheduled each interview at a convenient time for each participant by telephone or on a virtual platform. Lastly, the participants needed to conduct a system check of the agreed upon electronic communication devices prior to the scheduled interview date. Once the interviews were completed based on the selected sample size, I conducted member checking to verify data accuracy and to see if data saturation had been reached.

#### **Ethical Research**

The identity of the participants, company name, and data collected will be kept confidential. The informed consent form includes background information, procedures,

voluntary nature of the study, risks and benefits of being in the study, privacy, contact and questions information. The participant can withdraw anytime from this study by informing me via email. There will not be any incentive to participate in this study.

I ensured that the ethical protection of the participants was sufficient to maintain the data confidentiality as described in the Belmont Report. I protected the names of the organizations and participants by establishing a coding system such as O1P1, O2P2, and O3P3. The data collected from this study will be locked in a safe for five years located in my home office. After five years, all paper documentation will be shredded, and any electronic data saved on a USB drive will be destroyed. The Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval number for this study is: 04-08-21-0334252.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

The data collection instruments used for this study were virtual face-to-face semistructured interviews and taking notes to record the participants responses to the interview questions. I used the telephone and electronic communication devices like Zoom to conduct non-face-to-face semistructured interviews. I transcribed the information gathered from each interview. I also collected secondary data from the participants, such as a company document. I had each participant emailed that they give consent to the informed consent form before initiating the interview, interview protocols (see Appendix), and interview questions prior to the scheduled interview date. I engaged in member checking to ensure data accuracy as well as saturation.

# **Data Collection Technique**

The data collection technique used to collect data for this qualitative multiple case study is non-face-to-face semistructured interviews by audio recording, note taking and journaling, review of company documents, and review of company public websites.

Qualitative interviews are used by the researcher to explore in a detailed way, the unique experiences of the participants on how different phenomena are experienced and perceived (McGrath et al., 2019). The advantage of semistructured interviews is that participants can provide more honest responses to interview questions within a comfortable environment. However, the disadvantage of having virtual face-to-face interviews is the lack of environmental observation. The secondary data collection technique for this study was reviewing the participant company document and company public websites. The advantage of reviewing company documents is the ability to determine if additional information or data can be obtained to help answer the research question.

Upon interview completion, I transcribed the interview responses and gave them to the participants to review within a week to ensure data accuracy, which is also known as member checking. Member checking was developed to assess the validity of qualitative research (Madill & Sullivan, 2017). Once member checking was completed, I reviewed the data again to see if any new data or themes existed.

#### **Data Organization Technique**

The data organization technique used for this study is audio interview recordings, written notes and reflective journals, research logs, cataloging and labeling systems for

coding and analyzing the data. By using Zoom, I could record the interview and obtain a transcript upon completion of the interview. These technologies offer the ability to store interviews and transcripts on a cloud storage platform. In addition, I used a digital tape recorder during the interview to capture the exact words used in the interview question responses. During the interview, I took written notes for each interview to capture the participants responses along with any change in tone and nonverbal communication (body language). Researchers keep journals to record thoughts, feelings, uncertainties, values, beliefs, and assumptions that appear during the research process (Carlson, 2010). The research logs contained peer-reviewed articles or information related to any themes or topics discussed during the interview and research process. I coded the information and data gathered by grouping them by common phrases or words to see if any patterns or themes exist. The electronic data will be encrypted, and password protected to ensure the data is safely secured. All raw data will be stored in a locked safe in my home office for five years.

## **Data Analysis**

Triangulation is a process that is used during the data analysis by research members to conduct analysis and compare their findings (Carlson, 2010). Triangulation compares the different sources to strengthen the study validity by addressing any bias that might arise from single measures and determining the facts (Farquhar et al., 2020). There are four triangulation types: (a) data triangulation (data collected from different persons or at different times), (b) methodological triangulation (consists of interviews, surveys, case studies, and observations), (c) researcher triangulation (involves two or more

researchers in the analysis), and (d) theory triangulation (uses multiple theories to interpret the data) (Bauwens, 2010). I used methodological triangulation for this study. The use of triangulation for this study was to ensure the data results taken from different sources (participants, interviews, observations, a company document, and company public websites) to see if accurate information was obtained. The value of methodological triangulation for this study is that I collected data by multiple methods such as interviews, observations, notes, a company document, and company public websites in seeking responses to answer the research question.

After the interviews and member checking had been completed, I reviewed the data for any reoccurring themes. I used Excel spreadsheet and NVivo 20 software to assist in coding, mind-mapping, and identifying any themes in the data collected. NVivo is a qualitative analysis software used to help explore trends, manage, code, interpret, and analyze qualitative data, which reduces the need to do manual tasks related to traditional qualitative analysis (Sorensen, 2008). Once key themes have been identified from the data, I compared the themes with the review of the literature and the conceptual framework surrounding this study.

## **Reliability and Validity**

#### Reliability

Once I finished interviewing the participants, I ensured the data collected was reliable, trustworthy, and accurate. Part of the trustworthiness of the data is dependability, which refers to the consistency and reliability of the research findings as it relates to how well-documented the research procedures are so that an outside individual can follow,

audit, and critique the process (Moon et al., 2016). One way to ensure reliability is transcript review and member checking by the participants who participated in this study. Upon the interview completion, I informed the participants that an interview transcript would be provided for review and requested that any corrections be submitted. The transcript review will involve asking participants to identify and correct transcription errors or omissions as well as to clarify or provide additional information related to the interview responses (Hagens et al., 2009). There are six categories used in the transcript review process: (a) specific transcription errors/omissions corrected, (b) specific details added to the transcript, (c) specific transcription details corrected/changes, (d) grammatical changes or minor clarifications made to the transcript, (e) statements removed from the transcript, and (d) statements added to the transcript (Hagens et al., 2009). A transcript review is an approach used to verify the transcript's accuracy before it is coded and analyzed (Hagens et al., 2009). Member checking is the process of returning the interview transcript to the participants; a member checks the interview transcript or interpreted data, a member checks the focus group, or returns the analyzed data (Birt et al., 2016). Once the interview data has been member checked, a follow-up interview was requested to focus on the confirming, modifying, and verifying the participant's reviewed transcript (Birt et al., 2016). I used member checking to verify that the data were accurate, and findings were reliable.

# Validity

One of the main objectives of conducting research is to ensure that the information collected is accurate, valid, useful, and relevant. Validity in a qualitative

study consists of four components: creditability, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation.

### **Creditability**

Creditability deals with how truthful the research findings (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). The creditability of the data collected is especially important in research because a study should be objective and free of personal bias. Creditability also addresses whether the research findings presented are credible and accurate based on the information obtained from the participants' original data (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I ensured creditability by emailing the participants a copy of the interview transcript to review and make changes for accuracy. After the participant provided the transcripts and any responses, I scheduled a follow-up meeting to discuss the responses to ensure data accuracy.

## **Transferability**

This study should be transferable, which means the steps taken to conduct this research can be repeated by another researcher. Transferability refers to how the research results can be transferred to other contexts or settings with other participants (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I provided detailed procedures about the steps taken to collect and analyze the data so that future researchers can understand the methods and rationale.

# **Confirmability**

Confirmability means the results can be clearly linked to the conclusions and the process can be followed and replicated (Moon et al., 2016). After the completion of member checking, I provided detailed information about the data collected, organized,

and analyzed to arrive at the overall study findings. I described how the findings relate to the conceptual framework surrounding this study, and the research literature on this research issue.

#### Data Saturation

Data saturation is where information obtained from the participants becomes repetitive and where it results in no new information needed from further data collection (Kyngäs, 2020). I ensured data saturation for this study by continuing to interview participants until no new themes or topics were presented. Once data saturation had been reached, I proceeded to the next step of transcript review and member checking to ensure and check the accuracy of the data obtained.

### **Transition and Summary**

In Section 2, I explained the purpose of this study, the researcher role, participants selection, research method and design, population sampling, ethical research, the data collection instruments and technique, data organization techniques, data analysis, as well as the reliability and validity surrounding this study. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore successful strategies that nursing managers used to reduce employee turnover in the healthcare industry. In Section 3, I presented the findings and their application to professional practice. In addition, I discussed the implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, and reflections on the DBA process.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies nursing leaders in the healthcare industry use to reduce employee turnover. Six participants from different healthcare organizations in New York State participated in this study: two nursing managers, a residency program manager, two directors of nursing, and a senior director of nursing. All the participants had advanced degrees, which was not a requirement for this study. Some participants were from magnet-designated healthcare organizations located in New York State. The participants answered five open-ended questions during a semistructured virtual interview conducted by telephone and Zoom. The participants agreed to be audio-recorded during the interview to ensure I accurately captured the information. After the interview, I transcribed the interviews and emailed the transcriptions to the participants for member checking. I reviewed one participant's company document, and company public websites to support the data collected from the interviews. Five key themes emerged that focus on strategies for reducing employee turnover in the healthcare industry: (a) commitment of resources, (b) mentoring and residency programs, (c) compensation and incentives, (d) communication, and (e) engagement and recognition.

#### **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question for this qualitative multiple case study was:

What strategies do nursing leaders use to reduce employee turnover in the healthcare industry? I interviewed participants from six different healthcare organizations for data collection. The participants agreed to the informed consent form and were assured that

the information obtained would be kept confidential. In this study, I used pseudo names for each organization and participant to maintain their confidentiality as O1P1, O2P2, O3P3, O4P4, O5P5, and O6P6. I transcribed the interviews and provided transcription results to each participant for member checking. After the member checking was completed, I analyzed the data by creating an Excel spreadsheet and entering keywords and phrases from the interviews, which was followed up by using the NVivo 20 software to validate the findings. Five key themes emerged from the data collection process:

(a) commitment of resources, (b) mentoring and residency programs, (c) compensation and incentives, (d) communication, and (e) engagement and recognition.

#### **Theme 1: Commitment of Resources**

Commitment of resources is essential for reducing employee turnover and retaining staff. The importance of achieving sustainable success is a strong foundation built on organizational backing and committed leadership (Chant & Westerndorf, 2019). If leaders could provide a commitment of resources to implement strategies to reduce employee turnover, then there could be an increase in morale, productivity, profitability, and sustainability along with an increase in patient quality of care and safety. In interviewing the participants, commitment of resources was a theme that emerged as a strategy for reducing employee turnover. Participant O1P1 shared that "mentoring programs work when a bigger support system exists. It has to be supported by higher management. They need a higher-level organization message that they will support and budget for mentoring programs."

Leaders' commitment of resources could influence whether a healthcare organization hires new staff, such as nurses. Participant O2P2 explained,

Trying to work within a budget that is provided to you by the owners of the company, meaning when it comes down to staffing. If we need more nurses and put in to hire a nurse, sometimes we get a reply that sorry it is not within the budget. A financial barrier on the part of ownership.

Participant O3P3 discussed how "meeting the operational budget as a result of the pandemic. The financial gap as a result, made it so challenging to fill the vacancies."

Leaders' commitment of resources to provide employee engagement and recognition initiatives could help to reduce employee turnover. Participant O3P3 also stated,

[the] commitment of the leaders in making sure we are all aligned in terms of that shared purpose of making sure that our staff is being taken care of. We need to believe in that as leaders. What happens when we speak about this, we speak about self-care. We speak about our well-being. We speak about how we care for our staff. At the same time, are we seeing that in day-to-day practice? We need to make sure that those are aligned. Should walk the talk, not talk the walk. This is the only way to solidify the trust in us as leaders.

Leaders could pose challenges and barriers when implementing changes to improve organizational performance. Participant O4P4 mentioned how "you can assume leadership could be a barrier for some institutions." Some leaders could create barriers to implementing initiatives to improve an organization, resulting in not moving forward.

Participant 06P6 provided an example of when leaders were a barrier when presenting the idea of flexible scheduling to help address the nursing turnover. Participant O6P6 explained that "leaders in finance are telling us they cannot afford to pay nurses more money or to give them some of the benefits that these nurses are requesting, and I am saying to them, you cannot afford not to." Therefore, leaders' commitment of resources, whether financial or nonfinancial, is important to help retain employees.

# **Theme 2: Mentoring and Residency Programs**

Mentoring and residency programs were themes that emerged during the interview with some participants as ways to reduce nurse turnover. Dennis (2022) described that a mentor assists with questions or concerns, coaches to provide guidance, offers constructive feedback for improvement, and fosters professional and personal growth. In nursing, mentors could play a powerful and important role in helping to shape and develop a nurse career or helping a nurse achieve goals (Dennis, 2022). Implementing mentoring and residency programs at healthcare organizations could help to retain nurses and provide the support needed to succeed.

Participant O1P1 shared that she started a mentoring program at her organization.

Participant O1P1 explained how:

it was six months orientation time to train one nurse, and then even then, there were a lot of people who do not feel very comfortable getting off the orientation. Most people, I should say did not feel comfortable. So how do we create a safety net and give them support? So that is where the mentoring program comes in.

Participant O3P3 described how "one of the strategies that I have been implementing with my nurse leaders is around coaching and mentoring. Especially our new hires." Participant O3P3 explained further that:

the focus is on being able to work on them within the first two years of their life. This would be coaching and mentoring. We do have a residency program that would help in terms of aligning them into the practitioners that we want them to be for the position for the organization.

### Participant O4P4 shared how:

we do have a nurse residency program at our institution, but I have always thought about how to provide more support. Nurses that are entering the field now are a little bit different from previous generations. So, it was really about adding support to the program. So, I have done things such as making a strong focus on mentoring. Mentoring is always a focus of the program, especially within the past few years, but really encouraging nurses with experience to mentor a new graduate nurse.

Participant O6P6 stated how "the generation prior to me that mentored me." Mentoring programs help to share knowledge and information about the profession that is not always taught in school. Therefore, leaders of healthcare organizations should consider implementing mentoring and residency programs to retrain nurses.

# **Theme 3: Compensation and Incentives**

Compensation and incentives were a theme that emerged from interviewing the participants. An important aspect of reducing employee turnover among nurses is

providing decent compensation and incentives. The nursing staff is the largest segment of the healthcare industry; therefore, understanding the pay practices that produce the desired result is important (Bradley, 2021). Bradley (2021) noted that a thoughtful and well-communicated compensation strategy could help engage and retain nursing staff. Several participants discussed how increasing compensation and providing incentives are strategies for reducing employee turnover. Participant O1P1 shared how nurses want "a lot more money, and that is the bottom line." Participant O2P2 explained that nurses feel "overworked and underpaid and not appreciated at times. But the thing is, we have to remember what we are doing it for our patients; of course, we cannot work for free."

While increased compensation was a concern raised by the participants, a nonmonetary component played a role in reducing employee turnover. Participant O5P5 shared that tuition reimbursement, employee referral (a \$5,000 bonus), and professional development programs are offered, which have successfully reduced turnover. Participant O5P5 further explained about the employee referral program that if an employee refers a friend, then the employee is less likely to leave an organization. Participant O5P5 discussed how her organization offers:

[a] professional advanced practice program. It is kind of like a career ladder. So, where they would be working on a unit-level project, and then they can actually submit their work every six months, we do a review, and they have this promotional opportunity with clinical nurses at the bedside so they can move up to senior nurse clinician and with each step that they move it is another financial stepping stone.

Participant O6P6 stated that flexible scheduling is an initiative that might work to reduce nursing turnover.

### **Theme 4: Communication**

Communication was another theme that emerged from interviewing the participants. Communication is important in all aspects of the organization. Leaders who use effective communication could help to reduce employee turnover. All the participants shared how their organizations leaders evaluated employee turnover strategies through surveys and analyzing the data. However, some participants explained that communicating with employees through exit interviews, town hall meetings, rounding, and ongoing interactions is a way to get more information that surveys do not always provide. Participant 02P2 shared that:

making sure to have an open-door policy where there is ever something that an employee is not satisfied with, whether it is their assignment, their workload, if they feel stressed out, if they are having issues with another co-worker that they can seem to resolve. Just having an open door policy and welcoming your staff to be able to speak with you comfortably and maintaining a professional and positive attitude when dealing with your employees, that really helps a lot.

Participant O2P2 also stated that "it costs nothing to have an open door policy. It costs nothing to be positive and encourage communication, a lot of reducing employee turnover and improving employee satisfaction it is free." Participant O3P3 explained how:

during their mid-year evaluation, it not just a conversation about evaluating their performance but also discussing what would make them stay within the organization. Interview them by asking them questions about what would make it meaningful for them to stay.

# Participant O4P4 stated that:

just ensuring that the numbers they stay good and they do feel supported, so I am looking at the actual data, which is the numbers, but then also when they come to their sessions like I am facilitating those conversations, and trying to ensure that they feel supported and that they know that there is support when they are struggling.

Participant O6P6 explained, "speak directly to the staff." Speaking directly to the staff is probably an effective way to communicate and receive feedback.

#### Theme 5: Engagement and Recognition

Engagement and recognition are important strategies for reducing employee turnover at healthcare organizations. Nurses want to feel that their contribution is respected in the organization and have an active role in the decision-making process affecting their work (Junttila et al., 2023). Participant O1P1 described how the mentoring program created bonds among the staff. Participant O1P1 explained how the staff would still talk about the mentoring program even years after it had ended, saying, "we loved it. You know, that was fun." Participant O2P2 believes that:

giving the employees their credit, making sure that you acknowledge, and show your appreciation for their dedication to work for the company honoring employees by doing things such as: employee of the month, having after-work gatherings to build the team, team building efforts on recognizing employees on their birthdays can help assist with reducing employee turnover.

Participant O2P2 further discussed that "we do need to be respected. As long as there is respect, there is appreciation, gratitude, and management has to know how to be able to interact with their employees." Participant O3P3 discussed how "our own organization is very big on this, a lot of activities around engagement. We have some fun activities.

Having fun at work. Finding joy. All of that, connecting back to your higher purpose."

Leaders at healthcare organizations could show engagement with employees by taking an interest in their overall well-being. Participant 04P4 described how she has, check-in sessions where literally every month I run three to four check sessions, and it is an opportunity for them to call in, and we talk about what is going on in their unit, what is going on in their outside life. Are they sleeping? I give tips, and tricks to kind of mitigate whatever problems they are having. In addition, I have incorporated something called enrichment sessions, where they have attended their certain amount before finishing the residency program. They call in for those, and the topics could vary to something such as exercise, it could be yoga, meditation. So those are things that I have incorporated to kind of help them to take care of themselves because I know that they are not taking care of themselves when they are on the unit.

Participant O6P6 stated that "it does mean something to be engaged as a leader and to get to know your staff and what is important to them."

## **Finding Ties to Conceptual Framework**

The CET theory was the conceptual framework surrounding this study. Several participants mentioned how the COVID-19 pandemic influenced nursing turnover during interviews. Many nurses have left the profession due to the pandemic. Participant 06P6 explained that:

during the pandemic as well as post-pandemic, I have seen personally up close, upfront challenges within the nursing community that I have never seen before. I mean, I have seen nurses during the pandemic as a leader; I have seen nurses completely leave the profession. They were so burned down, and they were so exhausted. I have seen nurses and PCT nursing students say that they were going to Wal-Mart. I am going to sell real estate, and it was just disheartening, and I am concerned about the state of our profession.

Employee turnover can result from experienced staff leaving or newer staff not staying long within a department or organization. Participant O5P5 discussed how:

newer staff are coming in do not have the same sense of loyalty, and I do not say that in a bad way. But someone who joined an organization and has been here for 20, 25 years, and we know we are probably not going to see that from the groups that are coming in now. They will not, they will not stay put, and that may not be a bad thing, they made it very clear what they have mapped out their careers and how they are going to get there. I said it is not possible; it is very rare that we are going to start seeing those 10, 15, 20-year employees in the same departments. They may be in the organization, but they will not be in the same department.

## Participant O4P4 stated that:

there is just so many different factors that play into nurse retention, and I think what hospitals or any organization need to do is really focus on retaining not only the newer staff but also that experienced staff as well. Because when that experienced staff walks out the door, even though you are replacing them with a newer nurse, you cannot replace all that knowledge that walked out the door.

Some participants discussed how many nurses are leaving the healthcare industry due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which relates to how an aggregate of employees could leave an organization as described in the CET theory. The CET theory describes how an aggregate of employees leaving an organization could lose KSAOs. The loss in KSAOs could affect organization performance, patient quality of care, and patient safety.

The commitment of resources was a finding that emerged during interviews with participants that tied to the CET theory. The CET theory describes the human capital resource component as influencing employee turnover and organizational performance. An organization is a collection of human, social, financial, and organizational resources that should be considered to manage turnover concerns (De Meulenaere et al., 2021). If leaders could provide the commitment of resources to implement strategies to reduce employee turnover and retain human capital (nurses) resulting in improved patient quality of care and safety.

Communication among leaders and nurses was an emerged theme tied to the CET theory. According to Nyberg and Ployhart (2013), in the intensive workflow industry tasks are interdependent that require highly coordinated interaction and communication,

and the human capital resource is the combination of KSAOs from employees and relationships developed. The healthcare industry is intensive that requires effective and consistent communication to ensure good interactions with nurses while providing quality care and safety to patients.

## **Findings Ties to Existing Literature**

The findings from this qualitative multiple case study showed that leaders play an important role in reducing employee turnover in the healthcare industry. Effective leadership significantly impacts nurse well-being, retention, and patient care (Cummings et al., 2021). Leaders' commitment of resources could determine how financial resources are allocated toward filling vacancies, creating and providing support for mentoring and residency programs, and increasing compensation and incentives. Leaders typically set the tone regarding how an organization operates and its culture. If leaders provide open and effective communication by creating an atmosphere that fosters engagement and recognition, then nurses might be less likely to leave. If nurses are engaged with the organization, then there might be job-embeddedness.

Communication was a theme that emerged from discussions with some participants, although not discussed extensively in the literature review. Essential to organizational culture is communication, which is very important for an organization to thrive and succeed. The way leaders communicate often sets the tone for how an organizational culture is established and how employees interact. Holzwarth et al. (2021) defined leadership as influencing others through communication. For an organization to be functional, a continuous stream of communication should exist between its members,

which is necessary for any organization (Holzwarth et al., 2021). Effective communication is a key component in reducing employee turnover and retaining nurses.

Compensation was a theme that emerged from the discussions with some participants, although mentioned briefly in the literature review. According to Shtembari et al. (2022), pay and compensation are among the most important influencers regarding the quality and effectiveness of human capital. Compensation is a critical factor from the recruiting to engagement and retention phase (Shtembari et al., 2022). Nurses might be less likely to leave an organization and be more engaged if compensated well.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

Employee turnover could be costly for an organization in financial and nonfinancial terms. Therefore, reducing employee turnover in any organization could increase morale, productivity, profitability, and sustainability. Nursing turnover has been rising nationally and globally, but the COVID-19 pandemic has magnified the problem even more. Addressing employee turnover in the healthcare industry is important since nurses are the industry's heart and backbone. As a result, leaders of healthcare organizations need to review and implement strategies for reducing employee turnover.

The findings in this qualitative multiple case study could help to reduce employee turnover among nurses resulting in better patient quality of care and safety. Five themes emerged from this study: (a) commitment of resources, (b) mentoring and residency programs, (c) compensation and incentives, (d) communication, and (e) engagement and recognition. Organizational leaders must understand the importance of addressing employee turnover issues and find strategies to implement them effectively.

Implementing mentoring and residency programs at healthcare organizations could help by providing support to nurses and may reduce possible turnover. Overall, communication is a key component in dealing with employees of any organization. If there is consistent and open communication among the leaders and employees of an organization, then employees might be less likely to leave. If engagement and recognition exist in an organization among leaders and employees, then people might stay when valued, respected, and appreciated.

## **Implications for Social Change**

Nurses are essential to the healthcare industry; therefore, an investment in retaining nurses would ultimately improve patient quality of care and safety. The findings from this qualitative multiple case study provided strategies to help reduce employee turnover in the healthcare industry. Healthcare is used by individuals in communities, which affects society. Addressing employee turnover in the healthcare industry could directly affect individuals, communities, and society. Hopefully, the findings from this study could be a step toward positive social change.

## **Recommendations for Action**

I applied a qualitative multiple case study to explore strategies that nursing leaders in the healthcare industry use to reduce employee turnover. Based on the findings and analysis from this study, I recommend the following for action:

(a) commitment of resources, (b) mentoring and programs, (c) compensation and incentives, (d) communication, (e) engagement and recognition, (f) cross-training, and (g) succession planning.

- Recommendation one for reducing employee turnover in the healthcare industry is leaders' commitment of resources. If leaders provide a commitment of resources for financial and nonfinancial initiatives to reduce employee turnover and retain staff. Leaders also need to examine the quantitative reasons for turnover and the qualitative aspects. If leaders only look at the surveys but do not understand the rationale and meaning, then the information is useless.
- Recommendation two is to provide mentoring and residency programs that could
  provide guidance, insight, and support to address nurse concerns. Mentoring and
  residency programs could provide resources and information to help nurses with
  any challenges resulting in increased retention.
- Recommendation three is to provide competitive compensation and incentives for nurses who work hard and should be compensated accordingly. Providing career advancement opportunities such as going back to school or participating in career development programs at healthcare organizations could reduce turnover. Further, healthcare organizations could offer flexible scheduling as an incentive to retain nurses and reduce turnover.
- Recommendation four is to provide consistent and effective communication
  among leaders and employees to understand what is occurring and how to address
  issues proactively rather than waiting for someone to leave the organization.
   Communication is important in daily interactions with employees to see if any
  challenges or issues can be discussed and addressed.

- Recommendation five is that engagement and recognition of employees could benefit the employees and the organization. Employees are less likely to leave an organization when valued, respected, and treated fairly. Further, healthcare organizations could engage employees by providing social gatherings, employee recognition events, peer recognition programs, etc.
- Recommendation six is for healthcare organizations to provide cross-training
  among existing nurses so that there would be no major disruption if someone
  were to leave. Further, if cross-training were to occur in a healthcare organization,
  at least another staff member could step in when an employee leaves.
- Recommendation seven is that healthcare organizations need to prepare for succession planning. Succession planning needs to be implemented as more experienced nurses retire or resign so that the knowledge is shared and retained.

Leaders at healthcare organizations should pay attention to these findings to reduce employee turnover in their organizations. Further, if nursing executives and leaders were to implement some of the strategies, which could help retain nurses and reduce employee turnover at their organizations. The findings from this qualitative multiple case study might be disseminated to leadership and management journals. A copy of the findings will be provided to the nursing leaders who participated in this study.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

This qualitative multiple case study was conducted with a sample of six participants in New York State. The limitation of this study was the sample size and geographic location, but further research could be conducted on how to retain nurses

nationwide and globally since nursing shortages are a significant issue. During the interviews, some participants discussed how experienced nurses are leaving the profession. Another direction for future research is how to retain the KSAOs of experienced nurses and succession planning. There needs to be further research on how to retain the new nurses entering the profession who have different work expectations. Additionally, further research needs to be conducted on how collective turnover could affect an organization when many employees leave, such as during the COVID-19 pandemic and the Great Resignation. Further research could also be conducted on employee turnover's qualitative and quantitative effect on an organization. Lastly, further research could be conducted on employee turnover in other areas of the healthcare industry.

## **Reflections**

Initially, I was interested in another research topic, but I was informed at one of the residencies that I had to change the topic. The first research topic was a social problem and not a business problem. I had some challenges finding another topic, but I read an article that described nursing shortages. After reading this article, I became very interested and wanted to learn more about this issue. Nursing shortages affect society, so finding ways to address this issue was worth exploring. I am glad that I was able to conduct research on this topic and speak with nursing leaders who were willing to share their time and knowledge about ways to reduce employee turnover.

The data collection phase was challenging in trying to get participants willing to participate in the study. I had some participants who were interested in participating but

changed their minds. However, I am grateful and very appreciative to the participants who did participate and shared their time and experience.

I was recently affected by a nurse strike at a New York City hospital. This hospital had discharged or transferred patients to nonstriking hospitals since no nurses were available. The nurses were striking for better nurse-patient ratios due to nursing vacancies and better compensation/benefits. This experience showed me that the nursing shortage is a serious national and global issue that could affect patient care and safety.

During this DBA journey, I have encountered many challenges, disappointments, and setbacks that made me question whether I should continue pursuing this degree.

However, I am glad I continued moving forward despite the obstacles. The doctoral program has taught me persistence and helped me improve my research skills.

## Conclusion

Employee turnover in the healthcare industry is increasing, particularly among nurses. As a result, the leaders of healthcare organizations need to examine and implement strategies for reducing employee turnover. Employee turnover can have a negative impact on organizations in financial and nonfinancial aspects. Employees are the human capital essential for keeping a business functional and operating. As a result, organizational leaders need to understand and invest the time, money, and energy to implement strategies for retaining employees. The findings and recommendations from this qualitative multiple case study apply to the healthcare industry and other market sectors.

#### References

- Acikgoz, Y., Sumer, H. C., & Sumer, N. (2016). Do employees leave just because they can? Examining the perceived employability-turnover intentions relationship. *The Journal of Psychology*, *150*(5),666–683.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2016.1160023
- Acker, G. M. (2018). Self-care practices among social worker: Do they predict job satisfaction and turnover intention? *Social Work in Mental Health*, *16*(6), 713–727. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2018.1494082
- Adams, A., Hollingsworth, A., & Osman, A. (2019). The implementation of a cultural change toolkit to reduce nursing burnout and mitigate nurse turnover in the emergency department. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(4), 452–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2019.03.004
- Ahmad, N. A., & Mohamed, R. (2018). Management control system and firm performance-resource based view perspective. *MAYFEB Journal of Business and Management*, 1, 1–8.
- Ahmed, A., Khuwaja, F. M., Brohi, N. A., & Othman, I. L. (2018). Organizational factors and organizational performance: A resource-based view and social exchange theory viewpoint. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(3), 594–614. http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i3/3951

- Allen, D. G., Peltokoropi, V., & Rubenstein, A. L. (2016). Why "embedded" means "stuck": Moderating effects of job embeddedness in adverse work environments.

  \*\*Journal of Applied Psychology, 101(12), 1670–1686.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000134
- Alloubani, A., Akhu-Zaheya, L., Abdelhafiz, I. M., & Almatari, M. (2018). Leadership styles' influence on the quality of nursing care. *International Journal of Health Core Quality Assurance*, 32(6)1022–1033. https://doi.org/10.1108.IJHCQA-06-2018-0138
- Aluwihare-Samaranayake, D., Gellatly, I., Cummings, G., & Ogilvie, E. L. (2018). A contextual work-life experiences model to understand nurse commitment and turnover. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(9), 2053–2063. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13718
- Alsaawi, A. (2014). A critical review of qualitative interviews. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, *3*(4), 149–156.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.12139/ssrn.2819536">https://doi.org/10.12139/ssrn.2819536</a>
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review.

  English Linguistics Research, 3(1), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.5430/elr.v3n1p39
- Al Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in business organization: A conceptual view. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 15(1), 63-71.

http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06

- Al-Suraihi, W. A., Samikkon, S. A., Al-Suraihi, A. A., & Ibrahim, I. (2021). Employee turnover: Causes, importance and retention strategies. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6(3), 1–10. https://dx.doi.org/10.24018/ejbmr.2021.6.3.893
- Arend, R. J., & Levesque, M. (2010). Is the resource-based view a practical organizational theory? *Organization Science*, 21(4), 913–930. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1090.0484
- Arokiasamy, A. R., & Tat, H. H. (2019). Organizational culture, job satisfaction and leadership style influence on organizational commitment of employees in private higher education institutions (PHEI) in Malaysia. *Amazonia Investiga*, 8(19), 191–206.
- Asamani, J. A., Naab, F., & Ofei, A. M. A. (2016). Leadership styles in nursing management: Implications for staff outcomes. *Journal of Health Sciences*, 6(1), 23–36. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17532/jhsci.2016.266">https://doi.org/10.17532/jhsci.2016.266</a>
- Bartunek, J. M., Huang, Z., & Walsh, I. J. (2008). The development of a process model of collective turnover. *Human Relations*, 61(1), 5–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726707085944
- Bauwens, A. (2010). The use of method triangulation in probation research. *European Journal of Probation*, 2(2), 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/206622031000200204
- Bentahar, O., & Cameron, R. (2015). Design and implementation of a mixed method research study in project management. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 13(1), 3–15.

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Biswas, N., & Mazumder, Z. (2017). Exploring organizational citizenship behavior as an outcome of job satisfaction: A critical review. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 16(2), 7–16.
- Black, J., & La Venture, K. (2018). The human factor to profitability: Leveraging people-centered cultures as meaningful organizations. *Public Integrity*, 20, 444–458. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2017.1364949
- Boamah, S. A., Laschinger, S., Wong, C., & Clarke, S. (2018). Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes. *Nursing Outlook*, 66(2), 180–189. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004</a>
- Boamah, S. A., & Tremblay, P. (2019). Examining the factor structure of the MLQ transactional and transformational leadership dimensions in nursing context.

  \*Western Journal of Nursing Research, 4(5), 743–761.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945918778833
- Bradley, C. (2021). Utilizing compensation strategy to build a loyal and engaged workforce. *Nurse Leader*, *19*(6), 565–570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2021.07.006

- Brook, J., Aitken, L., Webb, R., MacLaren, J., & Salmon, D. (2019). Characteristics of successful interventions to reduce turnover and increase retention of early career nurses: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 91, 47–58. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.11.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.11.003</a>
- Bromiley, P., & Rau, D. (2016). Operations management and the resource based view:

  Another view. *Journal of Operations Management*, 41, 95–106.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.11.003
- Brymer, R. A., & Sirmon, D. G. (2018). Pre-exit bundling, turnover of professionals, and firm performance. *Journal of Management Studies*, *35*, 146–173. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12315">https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12315</a>
- Call, M. L., Nyberg, A. J., Ployhart, R. E., & Weekley, J. (2015). The dynamic nature of collective turnover and unit performance: The impact of time, quality, and replacements. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(4), 1208–1232. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2013.0669
- Campbell, J. M., & Park, J. (2016). Extending the resource-based view: Effects of strategic orientation toward community on small business performance. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *34*, 302–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.01.013
- Carlson, J. A. (2010). Avoiding traps in member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, *15*(5), 1102–1113. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2010.1332

- Carnevale, J., Huang, L., & Harms, P. (2018). Speaking up to the "emotional vampire":

  A conservation of resources perspective. *Journal of Business Research*, 91,

  48–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.05.041
- Carter, S. P., Dudley, W., Lyle, D. S., & Smith, J. Z. (2019). Who's the boss? The effect of strong leadership on employee turnover. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 159, 323–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2018.12.028
- Chiat, L. C., & Panatik, S. A. (2019). Perceptions of employee turnover intention by Herzberg's Motivation-Hygiene Theory: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Research in Psychology*, 1(2), 10–15.
- Chant, K. J., & Westerndorf, D. S. (2019). Nurse residency programs: Key components for sustainability. *Journal of Nurse in Professional Development*, *35*(4), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1097/NND.0000000000000560
- Chatzoglou, P., & Chatzoudes, D. (2018). The role of firm-specific factors in the strategy-performance relationship: Revisiting the resource based view of the firm and the VRIO framework. *Management Research Review, 41*(1), 46–73. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-10-2016-0243
- Cheng, C., Bartram, T., Karimi, L., & Leggat, S. (2016). Transformational leadership and social identity as predictors of team climate, perceived quality of care, burnout, and turnover intention among nurses. *Personnel Review*, 45, 1200–1216. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-05-2015-0118
- Clark, K. R., & Veale, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482–485.

- Cronley, C., & Kim, Y. K. (2016). Intentions to turnover: Testing the moderated effects of organizational culture, as mediated by job satisfaction within the Salvation Army. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 38(2), 194–209. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-10-2015-0227
- Cummings, G. G., Lee, S., Tate, K., Peneconek, T., Micaroni, S. P. M., Paananen, T., & Chatterjee, G. E. (2021). The essential of nursing leadership: A systematic review of factors and educational interventions influencing nursing leadership.

  \*International Journal of Nursing Studies, 115, 1-13.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103842
- Currie, E. J., & Carr Hill, R. A. (2012). What are the reasons for high turnover in nursing? A discussion of presumed causal factors and remedies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 49(9), 1180–1189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.01.001
- de Almeida, G., & de Brito Mello, L. C. B. (2017). Analysis of organizational culture in Brazilian building companies to evaluate changes required by BIM technology.

  \*Business Management Dynamics, 7(4), 1–16.
- De Meulenaere, K., Marescaux, E., & Vanormelingen, S. (2021). The role of firm size and knowledge intensity in the performance effects of collective turnover. *Journal of Management*, 47(4), 993-1023. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206319880957
- Dennis, V. (2022). The value of mentorship in nursing. *AORN Journal: The Official Voice of Perioperative Nursing*, 116(3), 215–217. https://doi.org/10.1002/aorn.13769

- Dierendonck, D. V., Lankester, A., Zyslona, M., & Rothwiler, H. (2016). Linking HRM practices and institutional setting to collective turnover: An empirical exploration.

  \*Administrative Science, 6(18), 1–17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci6040018">https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci6040018</a>
- Etikan, I., Abubakar, M. S., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5 (1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Fatima, T., Majeed, M., & Shah, S. Z. A. (2018). Jeopardies of aversive leadership: A conservation of resources theory approach. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01935
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184–194. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x">https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x</a>
- Friedman, S. Y., & Rabkin, M. T. (2018). Where hospital boards often fail: Auditing leadership performance. *Academic Medicine*, 93(11), 1613–1616. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0000000000002195
- Galdikiene, N., Asikainen, P., Rostila, I., Green, P., Balciunas, S., & Suominen, T. (2016). Organizational social context in primary health care. *Nordic Journal of Nursing Research*, *36*(2), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1177/2057158516628728

- Gandolfi, F., & Stone, S. (2018). Leadership, leadership styles, and servant leadership. *Journal of Management Research*, 18(4), 261–269.
- Giorgi, G., Mancuso, S., Perez, F. F., D'Antonio, A. C., Mucci, N., Cupelli, V., & Arcangeli, G. (2016). Bullying among nurses and its relationship with burnout and organizational climate. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 22(2), 160-168. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12376
- Guangyi, L., & Liyun, W. (2016). Research on the relationship between IT employee's work pressure, control points and turnover intention. *Canadian Social Science*, 12(6), 1–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.3968/8531
- Guha, S., & Chakrabarti, S. (2016). Differentials in attitude and employee turnover propensity: A study of information technology professionals. *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal*, 8(1), 1–17.
- Hagens, V., Dobrow, M. J., & Chafe, R. (2009). Interviewee transcript review: Assessing the impact on qualitative research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *9*(47), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-9-47
- Halbesleben, J. R., Neveu, J. P., Paustian-Underdahl, S. C., & Westman, M. (2014).
  Getting to the "COR": Understanding the role of resources in conservation of resources theory. *Journal of Management*, 40(5), 1334–1364.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314527130

- Hale, D., Ployhart, R. E., & Shepherd, W. (2016). A two-phase longitudinal model of a turnover event: Disruption, recovery rates, and moderators of collective performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 59(3), 906–929. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2013.0546
- Hamilton, A. B., & Finley, E. P. (2020). Reprint of: Qualitative methods in implementation research: An introduction. *Psychiatry Research*, 283, 1–8.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112629
- Hancock, J. I., Allen, D. G., & Soelberg, C. (2017). Collective turnover: An expanded meta-analytic exploration and comparison. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(1),61–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.06.003
- Haryanto, M. (2019). Nursing shortage: Myth or fact? *National Association of Orthopaedic Nurses*, 38(1). https://doi.org/10.1097/NOR.000000000000535
- Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). Collective turnover. *The Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *4*, 527–544. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113139
- Hausknecht, J. P., & Trevor, C. O. (2011). Collective turnover at the group, unit, organizational levels: Evidence, issues, and implications. *Journal of Management*, 37, 352–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310383910
- Herd, A. M., Adams-Pope, B. L., Bowers, A., & Sims, B. (2016). Finding what works: Leadership competencies for the changing healthcare environment. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *15*(4), 217–233. https://doi.org/10.12806/V15/I4/C2

- Hitt, A. T., Xu, K., & Carnes, C. M. (2016). Resource based theory in operation management research. *Journal of Operation Management*, *41*, 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.11.002
- Hobfoll, S. E., Halbesleben, J., Neveu, J., & Westman, M. (2018). Conservation of resources in the organizational context: The reality of resources and their consequences. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 5, 103–128. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032117-104640
- Hoch, J. E., Bommer, W. H., Dulebohn, J. H., & Wu, D. (2018). Do ethical, authentic, and servant leadership explain variance above and beyond transformational leadership? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Management*, 44(2), 501–529. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316665461
- Holzwarth, S., Gunnesch-Luca, G., Soucek, R., & Moser, K. (2021). How Communication in organizations is related to foci of commitment and turnover intentions. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 20(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000261
- Hunt, D. (2014). Does value congruence between nurses and supervisors effect job satisfaction and turnover? *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22(5), 572–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12055
- Jarupathirun, S., & De Gennaro, M. (2018). Factors of work satisfaction and their influence on employee turnover in Bangkok, Thailand. *International Journal of Technology*, 9(7), 1460–1468. https://doi.org/10.14716/ijtech.v9i7.1650

- Jin, M. H., McDonald, B., & Park, J. (2018). Person-Organization fit and turnover intention: Exploring the mediating role of employee followership and job satisfaction through conservation of resources theory. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 38(2), 167–192. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X16658334
- Johnson, J. S. (2015). Qualitative sales research: An exposition of grounded theory.

  \*\*Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 35, 262–273.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2014.954581
- Junttila, K., Heikkila, A., Heikkila, A., Koivunen, M., Lehtikummnas, T., Mattila, E., Meriläinen, M., Peltokoski, J., Sneck, S., & Tervo-Heikkinen, T. (2023). The impact of leadership in the autonomy and engagement of nurses: A cross-sectional multicenter study among nurses outside the United States. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, *53*(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0000000000001237
- Kangas, M., Kaptein, M., Huhtala, M., Lamsa, A., Pihlajasaari, P., & Feldt, T. (2018).

  Why do managers leave their organization? Investigating the role of ethical organizational culture in managerial turnover. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *153*(3), 707–723. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3363-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3363-8</a>
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

  The power of reflexivity. *The International Journal of Interdisciplinary*Educational Studies, 13(1), 19–31.

https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31

- Kim, S., Tam, L., Kim, L. N., & Rhee, Y. (2017). Determinants of employee turnover intention: Understanding the roles of organizational justice, supervisory justice, authoritarian organizational culture and organization-employee relationship quality. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 22(3), 308–328. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-11-2016-0074
- Komer, M., Wirtz, M. A., Bengel, J., & Goritz, A. S. (2015). Relationship of organizational culture, teamwork, and job satisfaction in interpersonal teams. BMC Health Services Research, 15, 1–12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-0888-y">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-0888-y</a>
- Kocoglu, I., Erat, S., & Imamoglu, S. Z. (2019). Emancipating identity: The differential effect of organizational identification on commitment and performance. *Emerging Markets Journal*, 9(2), 7–16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5195/emaj.2019.181">https://doi.org/10.5195/emaj.2019.181</a>
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

  4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

  120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kull, A. J., Mena, J. A., & Korschun, D. (2016). A resource-based view of stakeholder marketing. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(12), 1–8.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.03.063">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.03.063</a>
- Kurnat-Thorma, E., Ganger, M., Peterson, K., & Channell, L. (2017). Reducing annual hospital and registered nurse staff turnover-A 10-Element onboarding program intervention. *Sage Open Nursing*, *3*, 1–13.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/2377960817697712

- Kuypers, T., Guenter, H., & van Emmerik, H. (2015). Team turnover and task conflict: A longitudinal study on the moderating effects of collective experience. *Journal of Management*, 44(4), 1287–1311. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315607966
- Kyngäs, H. (2020). Qualitative research and content analysis. *The Application of Content Analysis in Nursing Science Research*, 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30199-6\_1
- Lanivich, S. E. (2015). The rich entrepreneur: Using conservation of resources theory in context of uncertainty. *E. Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*, *39*(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12082
- Lee, E., Daugherty, J., & Hamelin, T. (2019). Reimagine health care leadership, challenges, and opportunities in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *Journal of PeriAnesthsia Nurses*, 34(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2017.11.007
- Lee, H. (2017). When and to whom does trust have a positive effect? Interaction among trust, technological turbulence and organizational culture. *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(4), 35–42.
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P. W., Eberly, M. B., Li, J., & Michell, T. R. (2017). On the next decade of research in voluntary employee turnover. *Academy of Management* Perspectives, *31*(3), 201–221. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2016.0123
- Liu, D., Mitchell, T. R., Lee, T. W., Holtom, B. C., & Hinkin, T. R. (2012). When employees are out of step with coworkers: How job satisfaction trajectory and dispersion influence individual and unit level voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 55(6), 1360–1380. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2010.0920

- Madill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2017). Mirrors, portraits, and member-checking: Managing difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology* 5(3),321–339. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089
- Makarius, E. E., & Stevens, C. E. (2019). Drivers of collective human capital flow: The impact of reputation and labor market conditions. *Journal of Management*, 45(3), 1145–1172. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206317690585
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedhal, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- Memon, M. A., Salleh, R., & Baharom, M. N. R. (2016). The link between training satisfaction, work engagement and turnover intention. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40(8), 407–429. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2015-0077
- Mitrovska, S., & Eftimov, L. (2016). Calculating the cost for employee turnover in the IT industry in Macedonia by using a web calculator. *Journal of Human Resource Management*, 19(1), 24–33.
- Min, K. W., Homaid, A. A., Minai, M. S., & Zain, A. Y. M. (2016). Total quality management practices and microfinance institutions performance in Yemen: The resource-based view theory perspective. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 6(4), 1005–1012.

- Moon, K., Brewer, T. D., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Adams, V. M., & Blackman, D. A. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3). <a href="https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08663-210317">https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08663-210317</a>
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological Research Method. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., Lee, T. W., Sablynski, C. J., & Erez, M. (2001). Why people stay: Using job embeddedness to predict voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(6), 1102–1121.
- Nascimento, L. C. N., Souza, T. V., Oliveira, I. C. S., Moraes, J. R. M. M., Aguiar, R. C., & Silva, L. F. (2018). Theoretical saturation in qualitative research: An experience report in interview with schoolchildren. *Revista Brasilera Enfermagem*, 71(1), 228–233. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2016-0616">https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-2016-0616</a>
- Nelsey, L., & Brownie, S. (2012). Effective leadership, teamwork, and mentoring –

  Essentials elements in promoting generational cohesion in the nursing workforce and retaining nurses. *Collegian*, 19(4), 197–202.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2012.03.002
- Nyberg, A. J., & Ployhart, R. E. (2013). Context-emergent turnover (CET) theory: A theory of collective turnover. *Academy of Management Review*, *38*, 109–131. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2011.0201

- Oladeji, O. O., & Ayinde, A. T. (2018). Leadership styles and personality traits as predictors of job embeddedness among employees of Ibadan electricity distribution company. *Journal of Management Policies and Practices*, 6(2), 8–23. https://doi.org/10.15640/jmpp.v6n2a2
- Park, H., & Yu, S. (2019). Effective policies for eliminating nursing workforce shortages:

  A systematic review. *Health Policy and Technology*, 8, 296–303.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2019.08.003
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1–7.
- Park, T., & Shaw, J. D. (2012). Turnover rates and organizational performance: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98(2), 268–309. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030723
- Penny, L. M., Hunter, E. M., & Perry, S. J. (2011). Personality and counterproductive work behaviour: Using conservation of resources theory to narrow the profile of deviant employees. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 84, 58–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8325.2010.02007.x
- Phillips, T., Evans, J. L., Tooley, S., & Shirey, M. R. (2018). Nurse manager succession planning: A cost-benefit analysis. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 26, 238–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12512

- Pishgooie, A. H., Atashzadeh-Shoorideh, F., Falco-Pegueroles, A., & Lotfi, Z. (2018). Correlation between nursing managers' leadership styles and nurses' job stress and anticipated turnover. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(3), 527–534. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12707">https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12707</a>
- Ployhart, R. E. (2015). Strategic organizational behavior (STROBE): The missing voice in the strategic human capital conversation. *Academy of Management*Perspectives, 29(3), 342–356. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2014.0145
- Ployhart, R. E., Nyberg, A. J., Reilly, G., & Maltarich, M. A. (2014). Human capital is dead: Long live human capital resources! *Journal of Management*, 40(2), 371–398. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313512152
- Portoghese, I., Galletta, M., Battistellli, A., & Leiter, M. P. (2015). A multilevel investigation on nursing turnover intention: The cross-level role of leader-member exchange. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23, 754–764. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12205
- Prapanjaroensin, A., Patrician, P. A., & Vance, D. E. (2017). Conservation of resources theory in nurse burnout and patient safety. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 73, 2558–2565. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13348
- Purba, D. E., Oostrom, J. K., Born, M. P., & van der Molen, H. T. (2016). The relationship between trust in supervisor, turnover intentions, and voluntary turnover. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *15*(4), 174–183. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000165

- Qazi, T. F., Khalid, A., & Shafique, M. (2015). Contemplating employee retention through multidimensional assessment of turnover intentions. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce & Social Sciences*, 9(2), 598–613.
- Rappaport, J., & Richter, S. (2013). An application of Schein's theory of organizational culture to experiential learning. 2013 Northeast Decision Sciences Institute

  Annual Meeting Proceedings. 387–401.
- Ravasi, D., & Schultz, M. (2006). Responding to Organizational Identity Threats:

  Exploring the Role of Organizational Culture. *Academy of Management Journal*,

  49(3), 433-458. https://doi.org/ 10.5465/AMJ.2006.21794663
- Reilly, G., Nyberg, A. J., Maltarich, M., & Weller, I. (2014). Human capital flows: Using context-emergent turnover (CET) theory to explore the process by which turnover, hiring, and job demands affect patient satisfaction. *Academy of Management Review*, *37*, 766–790. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2012.0132
- Reina, C. S., Rogers, K. M., Peterson, S. J., Byron, K., & Hom, P. W. (2018). Quitting the boss? The role of manager influence tactics and employee emotional engagement in voluntary turnover. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 25(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817709007
- Renaud, S., Morin, L., & Bechard, A. (2017). Traditional benefits versus perquisites. A longitudinal test of their differential impact on employee turnover. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 16(2), 91–103.

https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000180

- Rhodes, R. A. W. (2014). Genre blurring' and public administration: What can we learn from ethnography? *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 73, 317–330. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8500.12085
- Rosario-Hernandez, E., Millian, L. V. R., Ramos, J. V., Cruz, M., Velez, E., Torres, G., Alomar, G., Caldera, J., Vera, J., Santiago, M., Arroyo, Y., Sanchez, I., & Rodriquez, N. (2018). Effect of the exposure to workplace bullying on turnover intention and the mediating role of job satisfaction, work engagement, and burnout. *Rev. Interam. de Psicol. Ocup.*, *37*(1), 26–51. https://doi.org/10.21772/ripo.v37n1a03
- Saunders, M. N. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27, 836–852. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182">https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182</a>
- Sensenig, K. (2009). People, productivity, and performance: The foundations of profitability. *Employment Relations Today*, *36*(2), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1002/ert.20248
- Shafique, I., Kalyar, M. N., & Ahmad, B. (2018). The nexus of ethical leadership, job performance, and turnover intention: The mediating role of job satisfaction.

  \*Interdisciplinary Description of Complex Systems, 16(1), 71–87.

  https://doi.org/10.7906/indecs.16.1.5
- Shtembari, E., Kufo, A., & Haxhinasto, D. (2022). Employee compensation and benefits pre and post COVID-19. *Administrative Science*, *12*(3), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci12030106

- Simon, C., Shaw, J. D., & De Sivatte, I. (2014). Voluntary turnover rates and unit performance: Test and extension of context-emergent turnover theory.

  \*Management Annual Meeting Proceedings, 2014(1), 849-854.\*

  https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2014.157
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and scope of the study. *Dissertations and Scholarly Research: Recipes for Success*. Seattle,WA: Dissertation Success LLC.
- Sorensen, A. (2008). Use of QSR NVivo 7 qualitative analysis software for mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 2(1), 106–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689807309082
- Stater, K. J., & Stater, M. (2019). Is it "just work"? The impact of work rewards on job satisfaction and turnover intent in the nonprofit, for-profit, and public sectors.

  American Review of Public Administration, 49(4), 495–511.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074018815261
- Steege, L. M., Pinekenstein, B. J., Knudsen, E. A., & Rainbow, J. G. (2017). Exploring nurse leader fatigue: A mixed methods study. Journal of Nursing Management, 25(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12464
- The Belmont Report. (1979). The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.
- Vardaman, J. M., Rogers, B. L., & Marler, L. E. (2020). Retraining nurses in a changing health care environment: The role of job embeddedness and self-efficacy, *45*(1), 52–59. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0000000000000202

- Walumbwa, F. O., Hsu, I., Wu, C., Misati, E., & Christensen-Salem, A. (2019).
  Employee service performance and collective turnover: Examining the influence of initiating structure leadership, service climate and meaningfulness. *Human Relations*, 72(7), 1131–1153. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718790649
- Wang, C., Yuan, Q., & Chen, Y. L. (2016). The personnel earthquake continuum:

  Consequences of collective turnover-a case study of Qidian founders collective turnover. *Frontiers of Business Research in China*, 10(1), 115–148.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3868/s070-005-016-0006-7">https://doi.org/10.3868/s070-005-016-0006-7</a>
- Wang, S., Dong, B., Si, S. X., & Dou, J. (2017). When it rains, it pours: A triple-pathway model of collective turnover based on causal mapping analysis. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *34*, 461–486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-017-9504-5
- Wei, F., Li, Y., Zhang, Y., & Liu, S. (2018). The interactive effect of authentic leadership and leader competency on followers' job performance. The mediating role of work engagement. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 153, 763–773.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3379-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3379-0</a>
- Wei, H., Roberts, P., Strickler, J., & Corbett, R. W. (2019). Nurse leaders' strategies to foster nurse resilience. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(4), 681–687. h <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12736">https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12736</a>
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic Management Journal*, 5(2), 171–180.
  - http://web.mit.edu/bwerner/www/papers/AResource-BasedViewoftheFirm.pdf

- World Health Organization. (2020). State of the world's nursing 2020: Investing in education, jobs and leadership. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331677
- Wilson, V. (2016). Research methods: Mixed methods research. *Evidence Based Library* and *Information Practice*, 11(1), 56–59. https://doi.org/10.18438/B8QS53
- Wright, P. D., & Mahar, S. (2013). Centralized nurse scheduling to simultaneously improve schedule cost and nurse satisfaction. *Omega*, *41*, 1042–1052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2012.08.004
- Yan, Y. (2016). Relationship between organizational culture and organizational effectiveness A study of nurses in Taiwan. *Nursing Informatics*, 225(1), 957–958. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-658-3-957
- Yates, J., & Leggett, T. (2016). Qualitative research: An introduction. *Radiologic Technology*, 88(2), 225–231.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case Study Research and Application: Designs and methods (6th ed.).

  Sage Publications, Inc.

# Appendix: Sample Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol	
What you will do	What you will say—script
Introduce the interview and set the stage—often over a meal or coffee	Good Morning (Afternoon) Mr. or Mrs. (Ms.)  I wanted to thank you very much for your participation in this study on exploring employee turnover in the healthcare industry.  First, I would like to start by you telling me a little about yourself. Why did you decide to pursue this profession? How long have you been a nursing leader?
<ul> <li>Watch for nonverbal queues</li> <li>Paraphrase as needed</li> <li>Ask follow-up probing questions to get more in depth</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>What strategies did you use that were the most effective in reducing employee turnover in your organization?</li> <li>What barriers did you encounter when implementing strategies to reduce employee turnover in your organization?</li> <li>How did you evaluate your employee turnover strategies?</li> <li>How did your employees respond to your different techniques to reduce employee turnover in your organization?</li> <li>What additional information would you like to add on this topic?</li> </ol>
Wrap up interview thanking participant	Well, this concludes our initial interview on exploring employee turnover in the healthcare industry. I really appreciate you taking the time to participate in this study. Again, I would like to thank you very much for your participation.
Schedule follow-up member checking interview	After this interview I would like to schedule a follow up member checking meeting to discuss any questions or concerns you might have after reviewing the interview transcript. I would like to know your availability within the next one or two weeks.
Introduce follow-up interview and set the stage	Welcome back to our second interview to discuss your feedback to the interview transcript. First, I want to thank you very much for your participation in this study on employee turnover in the healthcare industry.

	I wanted to know if you had a chance to review and provide comments on the interview transcript that was emailed to you on (XXX). Do you have any questions or concerns that you would like to express before we start reviewing your responses to the transcript?
Share a copy of the succinct synthesis for each individual question	I appreciate you sharing your overall questions or concerns, so let us begin by reviewing each question and the succinct synthesis interpretation to your responses.
Bring in probing questions related to other information that you may have found—note the information must be	Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—     perhaps one paragraph or as needed
related so that you are probing and adhering to the IRB approval.	2. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed
Walk through each question, read the interpretation and ask:	3. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed
Did I miss anything? Or, What would you like to add?	4. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed
	5. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed